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OPPORTUNITIES

CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of In Technical
Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibilities, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”).
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this
report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

To all shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, | am
pleased to present the audited consolidated annual financial statements
of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together referred as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
May 2020.

It has been a challenging year to our Group for the year under review,
specifically the business environment around the globe was adversely
affected by the outbreak of Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19") since early
2020, and the social unrest in Hong Kong during the second half of 2019
combined together adversely affected our business and our industry.
Shows and events were forced to postpone, reschedule or even cancel
due to various reasons, such as social distancing order and quarantine
order imposed by the government, travel restriction around the world,
closure of venues, etc. The Group recognized revenue of approximately
HK$44.7 million for the year ended 31 May 2020, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$49.6 million or 52.6% compared with the
year ended 31 May 2019. The gross profit of the Group for the year
ended 31 May 2020 decreased by approximately 94.1% to approximately
HK$2.7 million from HK$46.1 million for the year ended 31 May 2019.
The Group’s net loss was approximately HK$24.3 million for the year
ended 31 May 2020 representing a decrease of approximately HK$46.8
million as compared with net profit of approximately HK$22.5 million for
the year ended 31 May 2019.

Leveraging on years of experience and competitive strengths of the
Group, including leading visual display solution provider for pop concerts,
strong capabilities for providing customized visual display solution, large
quantity and wide range of visual display equipment, the Group has been
proactively seeking potential business opportunities and exploring the
possibility to expand the application of the Group's visual display solutions
to industries other than live events industry so as to broaden the sources
of income of the Group and enhance value to the shareholders. During
the lockdown of the entertainment business, the Group managed to
explore new business idea by utilizing our existing visual display
equipment and bring it into the filming industry. The Group believes it
will be a new business sector with great potential. Furthermore, the
Group has been able to conduct new business with shopping malls in
Hong Kong by installing large advertising/signage board in various ready-
to-rent shop in the malls.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FTEREE (B

Looking forward, the Group will continue to strengthen the REZEAK AEEEEEMBRETEEHNE
management’s governance and open up more business opportunities to A I E ZEBKH S UFEK Z ol &
diversify the business, ultimately benefitting the shareholders in return. MRESIRERTR -

The Board would like to extend its sincere thanks to the shareholders of #EZ=@E U AR AR AN EERE - ¥ 7%
the Company and the Group, business partners and customers for their ~ $££ & B P BA R0 89 B - R al 1 &5
utmost support to the Group. The Group would also like to take this  ZN & E 89 8 J) & §F o 2N &= @ JF 2 |t 1% € &
opportunity to thank all management members and staff for their hard HFFAE BB ABRETIZERNFH T

work and dedication throughout the years. &

Yeung Ho Ting Dennis FE

Chairman BEE

Hong Kong, 27 August 2020 BEE —ETFENAZ+LEH
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DN

Business Review

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of visual display solution
service.

During the year ended 31 May 2020, the Group was engaged in 269 pop
concert shows for Hong Kong and non-Hong Kong artists/bands (2019:
420).

The Group derived approximately 66.7% of its total revenue during the
year ended 31 May 2020 from pop concerts (2019: 74.5%), the majority
of which took place in Hong Kong, the PRC, Taiwan and Macau. The
remainder of the Group's revenue was attributable to other live events,
including corporate events, exhibitions, sports and recreational events and
other live performances, as well as equipment rental.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

During the year ended 31 May 2020, the Group faced the following risks
and uncertainties that might have affected the Group’s financial
condition, results of operations, business and prospects:

Financial risk

The Group’s operations are exposed to various types of financial risks
such as cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. Details of the aforesaid risk factors and the
respective risk management measures are shown in note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Operational risk

The success of the Group’s business is largely attributable to the Group’s
ability to keep pace with the latest development of visual display
technology in the market in order to provide feasible and cost-effective
visual display solutions to the Group’s customers. The Group's executive
directors and senior management are responsible for assessing the
change in market trends and making decisions to invest in suitable visual
display equipment to cope with the latest customer demands and
specifications in a timely and cost-effective manner.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Cyber risk and security

The Group’s computer equipment and website are exposed to attack,
damage or unauthorized access in this cyber era. Failure to protect the
Group's computer equipment and website from any unauthorized access
can result in reputational damage, financial loss and disruptions in
operations.

The Group has installed appropriate anti-virus software and internet fire
walls to protect the Group’s computer equipment and website from any
cyber-attacks. Trainings have been provided to the Group’s staff to follow
a security code setting procedures to minimize the likelihood of any
unauthorized access to the Group’s computer equipment.

Data fraud or theft

The Group's critical information is kept and managed by the Group's
executive directors and key management. Failure to protect the Group’s
critical information from any data fraud or theft can result in financial loss
and disruptions in operations.

Trainings have been provided to the Group’s executive directors and key
management for keeping and managing the Group’s critical information
to minimize the likelihood of any data fraud or theft.

Environment and social risks

For details of how the Group addresses to its environment and social
risks, where applicable, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 40 to 50 of this annual report.

Market risk

The Group's business performance and financial conditions may be
affected by the state of economy in Hong Kong. As an international
financial centre, the economy of Hong Kong is susceptible to material
fluctuations, volatility, disruptions or downturn of broader global
economic and financial environment, particularly to the developments in
the PRC. The Group's executive directors are responsible for determining
an overall market risk control framework, monitoring and assessing
market conditions and devising refined policies in light of any adverse
factors affecting the Group’s performance and market position.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Financial Review

Revenue

The Group generates revenue from providing (i) visual display solutions to
its customers in relation to pop concert shows and various other live
events; and (ii) equipment rental.

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s revenue by
source of income during the year ended 31 May 2020 with comparative
figures for the year ended 31 May 2019.

Year ended 31 May 2020

Bt % B B8

U =
AEEBRODAERTELEBEREZEH
IR ES AR 2 BRI R G B RERE
FE: Ri)REHEEEEW -
TREINREZ2_FT_FTFRARA=+—H

HFEAREBZRKARIRE 5 2 W% H 4
rEE_E-NFRA=1T—"BIEEZ
LE & B o

Year ended 31 May 2019

BE_ZT_%F BE_T-NF

EA=+-BLEE FA=+—HIFE
% of total % of total
HK$'000 revenue HK$'000 revenue
R E=E k] 1 W a5 A2 RE
FET HE 2L FAT BWE D
Visual display solutions R RRR 44,403 99.3 93,805 99.5
Equipment rental HEHE 312 0.7 468 0.5
Total 485t 44,715 100.0 94,273 100.0

During the year ended 31 May 2020, the Group principally derived its
revenue from the provision of visual display solutions, which accounted
for approximately 99.3% of the Group’s total revenue (2019: 99.5%).
The Group's revenue decreased from approximately HK$94.3 million for
the year ended 31 May 2019 to approximately HK$44.7 million for the
year ended 31 May 2020, representing a decrease of approximately
52.6%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Visual display solutions

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s revenue from
visual display solutions during the year ended 31 May 2020 with

BEE Lo (8)

BEBETRBRAIR

TRFIRBE_FT_FTFAA=+—8H
¢¢F$EIXE%E1%§E/T%¢J&H 2 W

comparative figures for the year ended 31 May 2019. For the purpose of R AERHE_—_ET—NLERL A =+ —
revenue breakdown presentation, other live events include corporate H |FF 8 7 L & & }J}}— o275 U5 E A M
events, sports and recreation events, exhibitions and other live = @ H#IRBESHBELETE 25 KLIK
performances. BEE BERHEMIBIBERE-
Year ended 31 May 2020 Year ended 31 May 2019
BZ_Z-_ZfRA=+-ALEFE BEZZ-NFAA=T—HILFE
% of total % of total
revenue Average revenue  Average
from visual  revenue from visual revenue
No.of Revenue display pershow No.of  Revenue display  per show
shows (HK$'000) solutions (HK$'000) shows (HK$'000) solutions  (HK$'000)
HREER =2 HREBER 55
BRAER EEH BARTR  RELM
B iz ARuN FHks  BEH e  Blas Tk
#E (T#&Rn) Bak (F#&xm) #&EB (F4A1L) Botk (F&T)
Pop concerts mTE%EEe 269 29,805 67.1 11 420 70,243 74.9 167
Other live events H 138 35 55 B 778 14,598 32.9 19 961 23,562 25.1 25
Total revenue from 18 (& B R f# R
visual display GEL &Y L
solutions 1,047 44,403 100.0 42 1,381 93,805 100.0 68
The decrease in revenue from pop concerts was mainly attributable to ZITZ & BEE e kIz LI ETEFRE

decrease in average revenue per show for pop concerts from
approximately HK$167,000 for the year ended 31 May 2019 to
approximately HK$111,000 for the year ended 31 May 2020, and
decrease in the number of shows affected by the outbreak of Novel
Coronavirus ("COVID-19") during the year ended 31 May 2020.

The decrease in revenue from other live events was mainly attributable to
the decrease in the number of other live events undertaken by the Group
from 961 for the year ended 31 May 2019 to 778 for the year ended 31
May 2020, as a lot of corporate events were cancelled due to COVID-19
pandemic during the year ended 31 May 2020. The average revenue per
show for other live events decreased from approximately HK$25,000 for
the year ended 31 May 2019 to approximately HK$19,000 for the year
ended 31 May 2020.

E‘-%,E‘ﬂ E/ﬁﬂjﬁﬁ$ﬁﬂﬁlﬁnm§ki
—E-hAhFRAZ=Z+—HLFE#167,000
BLIREBE_ZE_ZEFAA=+—HL
FEANI11,0008 T UWEBAREE_Z =
EFERA=ZTHLFEXHABRRS
([CoVID-19)) MIBEE & - JE 5 X B PR

9\

REHMRBESHNRIZIRDHDEZEAR
HE_Z_ZTFAA=+—ALEFEER
COVID-19B B2 FZ N EFFHEH -
BYAEEAENEMR S ESHEE B E
2T NFRA=ZT+—HLEFEMNSGIH
BRAEHE-_TE_TFERA=+—8LEF
EW778% - EMIRIGEB N T HE FH =
EEESEI:;E—AEEH:Jr—ElJtﬁFH’J
#2500 L THREZHEZE_T_ZTF A A
E+—EIJJ:¢F§*EI’J%’719,000/%7E°
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Revenue analysis by geographical location

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group
from pop concerts by geographical location during the year ended 31
May 2020 with comparative figures for the year ended 31 May 2019:

Year ended 31 May 2020

BE-ZE-EFHEA=T—-HLEE

BEMEE DB WE DT

TREINBE-_ZFT_TFRA=1+—HB1t
FEASBEZWEMLE S HHRTS L
BEEEWRaRAANBE_FT-NAFEA
=+ -RUEFEZEREE:

Year ended 31 May 2019
BE_Z-NFRA=1T—BLLFE

% of total Average % of total ~ Average
revenue revenue revenue  revenue
No.of Revenue frompop pershow No.of Revenue  frompop per show
shows (HK$'000) concerts (HK$'000) shows (HK$'000) concerts  (HK$'000)
BRT BHEH BRiT BHEL
ERRER  HFY SREEE BT
B hE HABEH kz AW W BhEe Yz
B (F#Er) Bk (F&x) ®HA (F#T) Aotk (FE71)
Pop concerts RITEHEES
Hong Kong B 107 10,322 34.6 96 224 19,967 284 89
PRC H B 117 13,802 46.3 118 129 36,040 51.4 279
Macau P9 37 4,801 16.1 130 42 8,024 1.4 191
Taiwan aH 5 495 1.7 99 13 3,265 4.6 251
Other Hip 3 385 13 128 12 2,947 42 246
Total revenue from KB RITE L&
pop concerts IBer e 269 29,805 100.0 111 420 70,243 100.0 167

During the year ended 31 May 2020, concert tours were spread across
different artists and were not as concentrated as the year ended 31 May
2019, due to the impact of COVID-19 and social movement in Hong
Kong.

During the year ended 31 May 2020, the Group provided services for (i) 3
male and 1 female Hong Kong artists for total of 35 shows of concert
tours in PRC; 5 shows in Macau; 2 shows in Taiwan, (ii) a Taiwanese male
artist for 17 shows of concert tour in PRC, (iii) a female Hong Kong artist
for 18 shows of concert tour in Hong Kong and (iv) a Taiwanese band
lead singer for 7 shows of concert tour in PRC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

During the year ended 31 May 2019, the Group provided services for (i) a
well-known Hong Kong artist for 41 shows of concert tour in the PRC; 15
shows in Hong Kong; 5 shows in Macau; 3 shows in Taiwan and 6 shows
in other locations and (i) a Taiwanese band for 18 shows in the PRC; 10
shows in Hong Kong and 10 shows in Taiwan. During the year ended 31
May 2020, no shows have been performed by the well-known Hong
Kong artist and the number of shows performed by the Taiwanese band
decreased to 9 shows in the PRC.

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group
from other live events by the geographical location during the year ended
31 May 2020 with comparative figures for the year ended 31 May 2019:

Year ended 31 May 2020

BE-Z-_ZEFIA=+-HLFE

BEE Lo (8)

HE-_ZT-AFHEA=1+—HBItEE K
EEO)A—UBBMBEABTKEERE
@ (FE4135: B8 15%  BMH55: & &
5 & H b i 1% 635 ) BB 6 42 6 AR 75 R (i) & —
BRI ER (FHI18G : BB105E K
BEI0G HRRERE B2 =_%F
AAZ+—HBUEFE ZBBBNBEA
ESRAEE MZAELBETRBEMNE
HZE TR E95 o

TREJNBE_ZFT_ZEFRA=T—HBL
FEAEERMWEMCES S A HEMESE
BESHNGEHAERNBE_FT-AFH
A=+ —HLEFEZHERHE:

Year ended 31 May 2019
BE-T-NGRA=+—HLLFE

% of total Average % of total ~ Average
revenue revenue revenue  revenue
No.of Revenue from other pershow No.of Revenue from other per show
shows (HKS$'000) live events (HK$'000) shows (HK$'000) live events (HK$'000)
LEM SHEH HEM BHEN
BEED ¥ RI5EH &) 15
EH hE  AWEH ks R e  BlES Y i
#A (F#r) Balkk (F&x) &B (F#H7T) B (F&T)
Other live events H{HBE 5
Hong Kong B 565 6,745 46.2 12 576 10,535 44.7 18
PRC s 4 631 4.3 158 4 52 0.2 13
Macau P! 209 7,222 49.5 35 381 12,975 5551 34
Total revenue from R B E #1855
other live events EEIEOE Y€ 778 14,598 100.0 19 961 23,562 100.0 25

During the year ended 31 May 2020, the Group continued to provide
service for various events in Hong Kong and Macau. Although a lot of
corporate events were either rescheduled or cancelled due to the
pandemic of COVID-19, we observed the Group can maintain the number
of events in Hong Kong only with a smaller production scale, hence
having recorded a decrease in average revenue by 33% compared with
last year. For Macau events, the Group recorded a decrease in the
number of shows by 45% mainly due to COVID-19, but average revenue
remains compared with last year.

BHE-—_ZT-_ZTZFRA=+—HILEEE K
SEEEND S KRN AZREEHIRMER
B BEAZLEEHECOVID-19Z EM
WHSRECE  BERMEEINAEBREHLE
BREEMNETHHE  HERERER/)  Bit
BEFHRRIEEFRD33% - BFEE
FHE - ZCOVID- 19K & - REERE T &
B 45% - {8 35Uk 55 R X A AR o
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Cost of services

The following table sets out the components of the cost of services of the
Group during the year ended 31 May 2020 with comparative figures for
the year ended 31 May 2019:

Year ended 31 May 2020

A 7% X 2R
TREIBE-ZT-TFAA=+ AL
FEASBERERAQERBD RBE=

E-NFRAA=ZT-"RHLEFEZHLEREE:

Year ended 31 May 2019

BE-ZE_-ZF HE2-_Z—hF
BA=+—-HLHFE AA=+—HIEFE
% of total % of total
cost of cost of
HK$'000 services HK$'000 services
1k B 7% 15 AR 75
RAEEE X 7R 42 58
FET HWEZL THET BB DL
Depreciation e 19,560 46.6 17,439 36.2
Direct labour costs HEYSITRA 14,013 334 15,189 31.6
Subcontracting charges nEB 3,273 7.8 5,779 12.0
Freight and logistics expenses & & & Wi & 3,452 8.2 4,986 10.4
Cost of equipment and spare % & & Fid 14 ik <
parts 476 1.1 1,148 2.4
Rental expenses related to lease ERFHE R EHFE 2
of equipment HeEmM 1,227 29 3,594 7.4
Total et 42,001 100.0 48,135 100.0
Depreciation e

Depreciation recognised under the cost of services of the Group is related
to the depreciation expenses for the visual display equipment of the
Group for the provision of its services. For the year ended 31 May 2020,
depreciation of visual display equipment represented approximately
46.6% of total cost of services (2019: approximately 36.2%).

Direct labour costs

Direct labour costs of the Group represent compensation and benefits
provided to the Group’s project managers, visual technicians, equipment
development and maintenance staff and warehouse keepers employed by
the Group. For the year ended 31 May 2020, direct labour costs
represented approximately 33.4% of total cost of services (2019:
approximately 31.6%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Subcontracting charges

Subcontracting charges of the Group primarily represent fees paid and
payable to the human resource company which provided us with workers
for installing and dismantling visual display equipment at pop concerts or
other live events in Hong Kong, the PRC and Macau. For the year ended
31 May 2020, subcontracting charges represented approximately 7.8%
of total cost of services (2019: approximately 12.0%).

Freight and logistics expenses

Freight and logistics expenses of the Group primarily represent
transportation expenses for delivering the Group’s visual display
equipment to or from its warehouses to the designated venues of pop
concerts and other live events or between different sites of pop concerts
and other live events. For the year ended 31 May 2020, freight and
logistics expenses represented approximately 8.2% of total cost of
services (2019: approximately 10.4%).

Cost of equipment and spare parts

Cost of equipment and spare parts of the Group represents the expenses
in relation to tools and consumables used for on-site installation and
maintenance, or cost relating to the equipment that the customer opt to
keep. For the year ended 31 May 2020, the cost of equipment and spare
parts represented approximately 1.1% of total cost of services (2019:
approximately 2.4%).

Rental expenses related to lease of equipment

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 “Leases” on 1 June 2019, rental
expenses related to lease of equipment previously recognised as
“Equipment rental charges” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income is recognised as “Rental expenses of short-term
leases in respect of rental premises and equipment” for the year ended
31 May 2020.

Rental expenses of short-term leases in respect of equipment (2019:
equipment rental charges) of the Group primarily represent rental charges
for visual display equipment such as LED panels, projectors, video control
units, and other equipment that was required for the pop concerts or
other live events in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC (i) where the Group’s
own relevant equipment was fully occupied at the particular time or (ii)
for cost effectiveness reason in view of the logistics expenses. For the year
ended 31 May 2020, rental expenses of short-term leases in respect of
equipment represented approximately 2.9% (2019: equipment rental
charges represented approximately 7.4%) of total cost of services.

BEE Lo (8)

TRE

AEENDBEIZHRENRENANE
BRABMER ZFAAREMKETA
EEE BPEMAMANRITELEEEX
HpBGEH LR RIFHREBRTRME -
BHE_Z_ZTERA=+—RBLLFE 5
BENGERBUANTE% (ZT—NF:
#4912.0%) °

BERURE

AEBMEBRYAREETZERINAEE
NEGERNEEERMANRERHERE
RNERITELEREREMRBESHLN
TR AT AR REMIBIGE
AR s HNERER HE_2 =
TFERA-Zt+—RALEE BERYRE
KRR EKRKANB 2% (ZFE— L F: 4
10.4%) °

R R B A

REEBMNRBEREGKAEEBSZER
MEMERNIAREMBBOMRAL =X
HEFRERBNIEBTHEORE - BHE
—E-TERACZ+BLEEE ERER
PR AL BRBEEANII%(ZZ— N
F:82.4%) °

HEAEXRBAEZHERAX

BE_Z_FTFRA=+—HBLEE ' »®
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BREGEGET) REBRENHEESR
BOERAKRBENEERBREER TR
8 1% 72 216 A 2(i) 2 B 2 ¥R B S R X
AYBRRR -BE_Z_ZFAA=+—
BLEFERE fRXBzZEHEECHEH
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HHREERNETA%) -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B E T R D T ()

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2020 amounted to
approximately HK$2.7 million (2019: approximately HK$46.1 million),
representing gross profit margin of approximately 6.1% (2019: 48.9%).

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group mainly include administrative
staff costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets, rental expenses of short-
term leases in respect of rental premises and others. The Group's
administrative expenses increased by approximately 49.0% from
approximately HK$19.6 million for the year ended 31 May 2019 to
approximately HK$29.2 million for the year ended 31 May 2020. During
the year ended 31 May 2020, the Company has submitted an application
for the proposed transfer of listing from the GEM to the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“transfer of listing”). The
incurrence of the non-recurring professional service fee in respect of the
transfer of listing preparation of HK$7.2 million (2019: Nil) and provision
for impairment in trade receivables of HK$2.8 million (2019: Nil) have led
to increase in administrative expenses for the year ended 31 May 2020.

Finance (costs)/income, net

The finance (cost)/income, net of the Group mainly consists of interests
on bank borrowings which were all repayable within five years, interest
expenses on obligations under finance lease and interest on lease
liabilities. The Group’s finance costs decreased by approximately 7%
from HK$0.54 million for the year ended 31 May 2019 to approximately
HK$0.5 million for the year ended 31 May 2020 which was mainly due to
the decrease in bank borrowing.

Income tax credit/(expense)

The Group is subject to income tax on an enterprise basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the Group
are domiciled and operate.

During the years ended 31 May 2020 and 2019, all PRC subsidiaries of
the Company were subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of
25.0%.

The Hong Kong subsidiary of the Company was subject to Hong Kong
profit tax at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits during
the years ended 31 May 2020 and 2019. Pursuant to the enactment of
two-tiered profit tax rates issued by the Inland Revenue Department (“IRD")
from the year of assessment 2018/19 onwards, the Group's first HK$2
million of assessable profits under Hong Kong profits tax for the year
ended 31 May 2019 is subject to a tax rate of 8.25%, while the
remaining assessable profits are subject to a tax rate of 16.5%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Macau subsidiary of the Company was subject to Macau
complementary tax at the rate of 12.0% on the estimated assessable
income exceeding MOP600,000 during the year ended 31 May 2020.

The effective income tax rate of the Group was 8.7% in the year ended
31 May 2020 (2019: 15.1%).

(Loss)/Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s loss was approximately HK$24.3
million for the year ended 31 May 2020, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$46.8 million as compared profit of approximately
HK$22.5 million for the year ended 31 May 2019. The decrease in profit
for the year ended 31 May 2020 was primarily attributable to (i) the
significant decrease in the number of shows and events engaged during
the year ended 31 May 2020; (ii) the decrease of gross profit margin
mainly due to the depreciation of equipment and direct labor cost; (iii) the
incurrence of professional service fee in respect of the transfer of listing
preparation; and (iv) the provision for impairment of trade receivables
amount to HK$2.8 million.

Business Update

The business of the Group was severely affected by the pandemic during
the year ended 31 May 2020. The outbreak of COVID-19 since early
2020, and the social unrest in Hong Kong during the second half of 2019
combined together have adversely affected our business and our industry.
Shows and events were forced to postpone, reschedule or even cancel
due to various epidemic prevention reasons, such as social distancing
order and quarantine order imposed by the government, global travel
restriction, closure of venues, etc, imposed by local governments globally.
The Group has tried to minimize the cost of operation, such as no-pay
leave for operating staffs in Hong Kong, Macau and China and rent
reduction request to all landlords.

In addition to fighting for survival, the Group has been proactively seeking
potential business opportunities and exploring the possibility to expand
the application of the Group'’s visual display solutions to industries other
than live events industry so as to broaden the sources of income of the
Group and enhance value to the shareholders. During the lockdown of
the entertainment business, the Group managed to explore new business
idea utilizing our existing visual display equipment and bringing it into the
filming industry, the Group believes it will be a new business sector with
great potential. Furthermore, the Group has also been able to conduct
new business with shopping malls in Hong Kong by installing large
advertising/signage board in various ready-to-rent shop in the mall.

BEE Lo (8)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

30 EEVERIC)

In the view of our management, our business will be back on track and
even experience an explosive growth once the pandemic of COVID-19 is
over.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Capital Structure

The Group finances its operations primarily through cash generated from
operating activities, interest-bearing bank borrowings and finance leases.
The Group recorded net current assets of approximately HK$13.2 million
as at 31 May 2020 (2019: approximately HK$46.8 million).

As at 31 May 2020, the Group's current ratio was approximately 1.7 (2019:
approximately 3.0) and the Group’s gearing ratio calculated based on the
total debt at the end of the year divided by total equity at the end of the
year was approximately 6.8% (2019: approximately 5.2%).

As at 31 May 2020, the maximum limit of the banking facilities available
to the Group was amounted to HK$4.4 million (2019: HK$7.5 million).
The bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, repayable
within one year or on demand and interest-bearing from 5.5% to 5.9%
per annum (2019: 5.5% to 5.9% per annum).

As at 31 May 2020, the capital structure of the Group consisted of equity
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$106 million,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group during
the year ended 31 May 2020.

Foreign Currency Exposure Risks

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to certain purchases with United States dollars (“US$”) and
Macau Patacas (“MOP”) and certain sales with Renminbi (“RMB").
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not
the group entities’ functional currency. The Group however did not
engage in any derivatives agreements and did not commit to any financial
instrument to hedge its foreign exchange exposure during the year ended
31 May 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Treasury Policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 May 2020. The Group strives to
reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments
and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to
ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 May 2020, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 May 2020, the Group had a total capital commitment of

approximately HK$2.1 million (2019: HK$1.4 million), mainly comprising
the related contracts of capital expenditure for visual display equipment.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 May 2020, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 May 2020, the Group’s pledged short-term bank deposits in the

amount of approximately HK$3.0 million was pledged as security for the
Group's banking facilities (2019: approximately HK$3.0 million).

BEE Lo (8)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Comparison of Implementation Plans for Business ¥ KBTI SEERRHETE
Strategies with Actual Implementation Progress FE 19 tb B

The following is a comparison of the Group’s implementation plans forits A TN AAREENBREZ(EZBEEZ2H K
business strategies up to 31 May 2020 as set out in the section headed FrEZBRES | — KR _-_Z—/)\F/\H
“Statement of Business Objectives and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus =+ \B | s & BREREFHEEZZA
and the announcement for the change of proposed use of the net B AL ([ZALE|)FHEEE_—_E_ZTF
proceeds published on 28 August 2018 (the “Announcement”) withthe H A=+ —BHEBFEHBETHE B ARE

Group’s actual implementation progress: EERHETEENLLE
Implementation plans as stated in Actual implementation progress
Business strategies the Prospectus and the Announcement up to 31 May 2020
EE-Z-ZFAA=+—HW
E 3 PRERRZDEREAETE BRETEE
Expand the Group’s business in e Acquire additional LED panels and video e The procurement of additional
Shanghai control units LED panels and video control

units has been completed

N EBRERASEEN X o WEHBRMINEDBTRFRBERIEGET o BEXKRBRAINEDETRER
BEESGET
Recruit staff for the Group’s business e Recruit more staff for the business e 12 staff were recruited for the
expansions in Macau expansions in Macau business expansions in Macau
RARBERAPIBERXBAR  « BRESEIUNRFIBREY s BENREZEIURNAPIBREE
8T &
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEE Lo (8)

Use of Proceeds FFEBREBRAE
Net proceeds from the placing and public offer of the Company’s shares
for the Listing were approximately HK$34.5 million (the “Net Proceeds”),
after deducting the underwriting commissions and other listing expenses.
The Company announced on 28 August 2018 for the change of proposed %8 |) c A A TR —_ZEZ— N NENHA -+ H
use of the Net Proceeds. For details, please refer to the announcement EHEEFRE R B EEEZE S 5@
published on 28 August 2018. As at 28 February 2019, all the Net & #Z2E_Z— N\E/\A -+ /\H F) =
Proceeds have been utilised. Set out below are details of the original WAL R=ZZT—HhE=-_BA=_+/\B " FH
allocation of the Net Proceeds, the revised allocation of the Net Proceeds Fr{E K IB ) EFEEEFHAH T XHI R =
and the utilisation of the Net Proceeds as at 31 May 2020: —EFERA=1T—"HBHAEBREFENR
RO FISRIBEFENLET DR
SRIEFENERBRAFS

RMGEEHEAEREMETRAXE XA
ARABRD ETHNREER2REEMS
REFRAOR3MSAE BT (AEREF

Revised
allocation
as at Amount Unutilised
Original 28 August utilised as at amount at
allocation 2018 31 May 2020 31 May 2020
R-ZZE-N\F RIZ-EF RIZE-EF
Utilisation of the Net NB=+\H EHA=+—-H EA=+-—H
Proceeds FEFEFEAR RET 5 B RIET 2B EBRASE REBASHE
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(B&ETT) (B&BT) (B&BT) (B8ET)
approximately ~ approximately ~ approximately  approximately
29 29 o) 29
Repayment of bank loans & &R 1TE K 9.9 9.9 9.9 —
Acquisition of visual display U B 18 & 78 R % 5
equipment 11.6 11.6 11.6 —
Settlement of payables HEE R RIE 10.6 10.6 10.6 =
Recruitment of creative B HE Bl E 48 BE
director 1.7 — — —
Recruitment of staff for RAEBERNRPIED
the Group's business ERBEET
expansions in Macau — 1.7 1.7 —
Working capital EEAS (MKREHE
(after deducting the BA%)
relevant expenses) 0.7 0.7 0.7 —
Total et 34.5 34.5 34.5 —
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Corporate Governance Report
TEREB®RSE

The Board is committed to establish and ensuring high standards of
corporate governance and adopt sound corporate governance practices.
The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the "CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors
strongly believe that reasonable and sound corporate governance
practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding
and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Directors consider that since the Listing Date and up to the date of
this report, except for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code, the Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
set out in the CG Code. Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates
that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Yeung Ho Ting
Dennis is the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. In
view of Mr. Yeung’s role in day-to-day operations and management of
the Group since April 2009, the Board believes that it is in the best
interest of the Group to have Mr. Yeung taking up both roles for effective
management and business development. Therefore, the Directors
consider that the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
is appropriate in such circumstance and the Board is of the view that this
management structure is effective for the Group’s operations and
sufficient checks and balances are in place.

Board of Directors

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the Group’s
overall strategies, the setting of management targets and supervision of
management performance. The management is delegated with the
authority and responsibility by the Board for the management and
administration of the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated
various responsibilities to the Board committees of the Company. Further
details of the Board committees are set out below in this report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the
success of the Company by the direction and supervision of the
Company'’s business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for day to
day management of the Company which is delegated to the
management. To this end, monthly financial and operational information
are provided to the Board for assessing the performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries. For significant matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company. The management is responsible
for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group and to
provide the Board with updates in a timely manner, giving an assessment
of the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board to
discharge its duties.

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code,
which include:

(@) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

() to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

(e)  to review the Group's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Board Composition

The Board comprises five Directors, two of whom are executive Directors
and the other three are independent non-executive Directors. Details of
their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tam Chun Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Kai Sing

Mr. Ma Tsz Chun

Ms. Loh Lai Ping Phillis

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or substantive
experience and industry knowledge. The Board as a whole has achieved
an appropriate balance of skills and experience. The composition of the
Board satisfies the requirements of Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules. There are three independent non-executive Directors and at
least one of them has accounting professional qualification. With more
than one-third of the members of the Board are independent non-
executive Directors, the Board has a fairly strong independence element
in terms of its composition.

The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board
brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgment on
issues relating to the Group's strategies, performance, conflicts of
interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all
shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies of
Board of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 70 to 75 of this
annual report. There are no family or other material relationships among
members of the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), on 19 May 2017 with delegated powers for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of the committees of
the Company has been established with written terms of reference.

The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The Directors
can attend meetings in person or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Company’s articles of association
(the "Articles”). The chairman of the Board also meets with the
independent non-executive Directors at least once a year without the
presence of the executive Directors. Notices and agendas of regular Board
meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before convening the
Board meeting. For all other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. All other schedules and the relevant information
of each Board and committee meeting are generally made available to
Directors or committee members at least three days in advance. The
Board and each Director also have separate and independent access to
the management whenever necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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During the year ended 31 May 2020, the Company held five Board
meetings, four Audit Committee meetings, one Remuneration Committee
meeting and one Nomination Committee meetings. All minutes of the
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees were recorded in
sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and the decisions
reached. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:

BE_Z-_ZTFRA=Z+—HILEE X«
ARABERTANESETEH WAEZRZE
BEege% —AFHZETgER— X
HEECeR EZCCRARESELZES
ZHMESZLE DEHEETEMERESFE
NEBZREIERHFHZLE  -EFH
FEBEREBWT :

Attendance/Number of meetings

HERE EEETRY
Board
Meeting Audit Remuneration Nomination General
(Note 1) Committee Committee  Committee meeting
Ezee3
Name of Directors EEpg (fE1) BRZEES FHMEEE REZEE BRFRAE
Executive Directors: HITEE:
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis G EEE 5/5 — — 17 11
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BEFEAE 5/5 — — — 11
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES:
Directors:
Mr. Li Kai Sing FRUREE 5/5 4/4 17 17 111
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun SRERE 4/5 4/4 1” 11 1”n
Ms. Loh Lai Ping Phillis BENZLT 5/5 4/4 1/1 — 11

Note 1: Include a Board meeting where the Chairman met Non-executive and Independent

Non-Executive Directors in the absence of the Executive Directors and management.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters arising from
corporate governance, risk management, statutory compliance,
accounting and finance.

Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally made available
to Directors in advance. At least 14 days' notice should be given for a
regular Board meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters

considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company Secretary
at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting
and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of
the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles provide that at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.

The non-executive Directors should be appointed for a specific term and
subject to re-election. Each of the non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with the Company. The appointment letter of each of the non-
executive Director and independent non-executive Directors is for a term
of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be
terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either
party on the other. The aforesaid appointment letters are subject to
termination provisions therein and the retirement and re-election
provisions in the Articles. Details of the appointment letters are
summarised in the Report of the Board of Directors on page 54 of this
annual report.

Directors’ Continuous Training and Professional
Development

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Up to the date of this report, all Directors have participated in
continuous professional development by attending training courses or
reading relevant materials on the topics related to corporate governance
and regulations. Records of the training received by the respective
Directors are kept and updated by the Company Secretary.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The Independent non-executive Directors are experienced professionals
with expertise in respective areas of accounting, finance, industry
knowledge and expertise. With their professional knowledge and
experience, the independent non-executive Directors serve an important
function of advising the senior management on strategy development
and ensure that the Board maintains high standards in financial and other
mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate checks and balances
for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders and the Company as a
whole; and independent non-executive Directors will participate in the
Company’s various committees including the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors the written confirmation of his/her independence. The Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Chairman and Executive Directors

The chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and is also
responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice and is responsible for the overall
corporate management of the business development strategies of the
Group, The executive Directors are responsible for the implementation of
the business strategies, policies and objectives set out by the Board and is
accountable to the Board for the overall operations of the Group. These
functions and responsibilities are currently being shared by the
management team.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Board Committee

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 19 May 2017 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The full terms of reference setting out details of the
authority, duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available
on both the GEM website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Li Kai Sing, Mr. Ma Tsz Chun and Ms. Loh Lai Ping
Phillis. Mr. Li Kai Sing is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the policies of
the Group and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by
the Board. The full terms of reference setting out details of duties of the
Audit Committee is available on both the GEM website and the
Company’s website.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers
(“PwC"), and recommended the Board re-appoint PwC as the Company’s
auditors in the financial year ending 31 May 2021, which is subject to the
approval of shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the Group's audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 May 2020.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held at least four times a year and the external
auditor may request a meeting if they consider that one is necessary.

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and Directors’
attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of Meetings and
Directors’ Attendance” on pages 23 to 24 of this annual report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee in compliance
with Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules, which comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ma Tsz Chun, Mr. Li Kai
Sing and Ms. Loh Lai Ping Phillis. Mr. Ma Tsz Chun is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but without
limitation): (a) making recommendations to the Directors regarding the
policy and structure for the remuneration of all the Directors and senior
management of the Group and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (b) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Group; (c) reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and (d) considering and
approving the grant of share options to eligible participants pursuant to
the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the sole shareholder of
the Company on 19 May 2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The full
terms of reference setting out details of duties of the Remuneration
Committee is available on both the GEM website and the Company’s
website.

The Remuneration Committee determines Directors’ remuneration by
reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also looks
into individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities, performance
and the results of the Group in determining the exact level of
remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 23 to 24 of this annual
report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERRE (B)

Senior Management’s remuneration SREEEMN H M

Senior Management’s remuneration payment of the Group for theyear #HE-_ZT-_FTFF A=+ —HIFFEE ' K

ended 31 May 2020 falls within the following band: SESHEEBENFNINEATHRER :
Number of
individuals

HK$ V- A

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 0% 1,000,000/ 7T 4

Remuneration policy ¥ B BUR

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior AEFBEERLSRETEEONETHBSTHE

management was based on their experience, level of responsibility and
general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit
payments are linked to the performance of the Group and the individual
performance of the Directors and senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, namely Mr.
Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, and two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Li Kai Sing and Mr. Ma Tsz Chun. Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on regular basis; identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full terms of reference
setting out details of the authority, duties and responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee is available on both the GEM website and the
Company’s website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
meeting can be called by the member of the Nomination Committee any
time when it is necessary.
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Nomination Procedures:

1.

The secretary should give the nomination committee member a
membership list, listing out the current board members’ name,
position & duties at the organization.

Each year, the nominating committee is to evaluate current board
members to assess whether they are performing satisfactorily and
should be considered for re-election. Evaluations may be performed
by a subset of the nominating committee or an independent third
party to ensure the fairness.

Next step is to receive recommendations for new board members
from management or current board members. The nomination
committee should review the resumes of potential candidates,
assessing their skills and experience to determine if they meet
qualifications for the position. In reviewing candidate profiles, the
committee should also consider criteria that includes:

o Proven leadership

o Previous board experience

° Knowledge and experience

. Diversity-including age, gender, ethnicity, race, disabilities,
geography

° Experience with large and complex organization

o Skillset-including finance, legal, auditing, government affairs,
public relations, community experience, and knowledge of
the organizations

o In case of nomination for independent non-executive
directors, should consider why the candidate to be
independent (should refer to relevant Listing Rules for
independence)

Give a list of candidates to the full committee for discussion and
review.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

5.  The committee then makes contact with each candidate to make
an assessment for a high level of personal and professional integrity,
as well as to assess their level of commitment to the organization,
and availability. This is often done by assigning one member of the
nominating committee to one candidate, who will bring a candidate
summary with recommendations back to the full committee.
Additional interviews by the nominating committee and the CEO
may be necessary to ensure due diligence interviews may be
conducted with the assistance of a third party.

6.  The committee forms a final slate of recommended candidates to
the full board for formal approval. Nominees should not be present
at this meeting to allow for open discussion by the board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy as well as
discussing matters regarding the retirement and re-election of Directors.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors’ attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 23 to 24 of this annual
report.

Accountability and Audit

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the
consolidated financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for ensuring
that the Group's consolidated financial statements for each financial year
are prepared to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, the
financial results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance and the applicable
accounting standards. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 May 2020, the Board has adopted appropriate and
consistent accounting policies and made prudent, fair and reasonable
judgments and estimates. The Directors are responsible for maintaining
proper accounting records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the
state of affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity movement of the
Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.
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The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern are
disclosed in note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities. The statement of auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 76 to 85 of this annual report.

Auditor's Remuneration

During the year ended 31 May 2020, the remuneration for the audit
service provided by the Company’s auditor to the Group was
HK$1,200,000.

During the year ended 31 May 2020, the Company’s auditor did not
provide any non-audit service to the Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board
is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions such as
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional development of the
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors review the Group’s corporate governance policies and
compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply with the
“comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance report which is
or will be included in the annual reports of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy in accordance with the
requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is summarised as below:

The Board diversity policy of the Company specifies that in designing the
composition the Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection of candidates
for the Board will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, culture, ethnicity and educational
background, professional experience, knowledge and skills.

The Company discloses the composition of the Board in corporate
governance report every year and the Nomination Committee oversees
the implementation of the Board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018 which
sets out the principles and measures on how the Company may propose

a dividend.

The Board will account for the following factors when considering the
payment of dividends:

a.  The general financial condition of the Group;

b.  The actual and future operations and liquidity positions of the
Group;

C. The future cash requirements and availability;

d.  Any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders;

e.  The general market conditions; and

f. Any other factor that the Board deem appropriate.
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Any declaration and payment of future dividends under the dividend
policy will be subject to the Board’s determination that the same would
be in the best interests of the Group and the shareholders of the
Company as a whole. In addition, the declaration and payment of
dividends may be subject to legal restrictions or any applicable laws, rules
and regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company.

Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having made
specific enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have complied with
the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31 May 2020 and up to
the date of this annual report.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and encourage
their participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for separate
issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions put forward at
shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information on
the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory
requirements.

General Meetings with Shareholders

The Company'’s forthcoming annual general meeting will be held on 3
November 2020.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Shareholders’ Rights

(a)

(b)

(9]

Convening of an extraordinary general meeting
on requisition by shareholders

Pursuant to Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company. Shareholders also have the right to propose a person for
election as a Director, the procedures are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to the
operations and management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall be sent to the Company
Secretary by a written requisition. Shareholders who wish to put
forward a proposal should convene an extraordinary general
meeting by following the procedures set out in “Convening of an
extraordinary general meeting on requisition by shareholders”
above.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the extent
such information is publicly available to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for forwarding communications relating to
matters within the Board's purview to the executive Directors of the
Company, communications relating to matters within a Board
committee’s area of responsibility to the chairman of the
appropriate committee, and communication relating to ordinary
business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and consumer
complaints, to the appropriate management of the Company, in
writing to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong.
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Investor Relations

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a
key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open
and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and
investment public. The Company updates its shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports. The corporate website of the Company
(http://www.intechproductions.com) has provided an effective
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

Company Secretary

Ms. Leung Yin Fai, the Company Secretary, is responsible for advising the
Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that the Board
policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures and all applicable
laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary is responsible for
facilitating communications among Directors as well as with management.

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Leung Yin Fai, as
its Company Secretary. Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, chairman of the
Board, executive director and chief executive officer of the Company, is
the primary contact person whom Ms. Leung Yin Fai can contact.

During the year ended 31 May 2020, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Group's systems of risk management and internal
control include a defined management structure with limits of authority,
which is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure
in operational systems and achievement of the Group'’s objectives.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established. The
division/department head of each core operating division/department is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such division/
department within the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and
the Board together, and reports directly to the Board.

In the course of conducting the business, the Group is exposed to various
types of risks. During the year ended 31 May 2020, the following
principal risks of the Group were identified and classified into strategic
risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas Principal Risks
[ e 9B 35 FTERRE
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Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new technologies and customers’ taste; market
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Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, inflation risk
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Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances related to

employment; change of listing rules and relevant company regulations and ordinances
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The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the Group
and it has delegated to executive management to carry out the risk
identification and monitoring procedures. The objectives of the risk
management are to enhance the governance and corporate management
processes as well as to safeguard the Group against unacceptable levels
of risks and losses.

The risk management process of the Group will involve, among others, (i)
an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which involves
assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and the
development of risk management plans for mitigating such risks; and (ii)
an annual review of the implementation of the risk management plans
and fine tuning of the implementation plan when necessary.
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During the year ended 31 May 2020, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted review of both design and implementation
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, covering all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates any
material issues to the Board.

The Company has hired an internal audit manager to review the Group's
system of internal controls and risk management annually and further
enhance the Group’s internal control and risk management systems as
appropriate.

Code of Conduct and Handling of Inside
Information

The Group places utmost importance on the ethical, personal and
professional standards of the Directors and employees of the Group. In
addition to the various policies adopted and implemented by the Group
imposing certain conduct requirements on Directors and employees, every
employee is required to undertake to adhere to the Group’s Code of
Conduct, and is expected to achieve the highest standards of behavior
including avoiding conflict of interest, discrimination or harassment and
bribery and corruption. Employees are required to report any
noncompliance with the Code of Conduct to management.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Guidelines on Disclosure of
Inside Information published by the Securities and Futures Commission
and the GEM Listing Rules, the Group has an obligation to disclose any
inside information as soon as practicable after such information has come
to the knowledge of the Board. The Company has developed its
disclosure policy which provides a general guide to the Company’s
directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees in
handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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In addition, if there occurs any significant risk events, the Group will  [tbo) + MEBE AR EAR R EE  AEE
report such risk events to the relevant authorities so that appropriate R EME RE®REMEERSHEH NERE
decisions and measures can be made by the Group in a timely manner to  [E g2 %9 & B {E 1 8 & A R & N 75 1 DA JE 3

deal with such risk events. BHERREIE-
Looking Forward RBERR

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standardson ZAEEFEEREEFNEDEERZE

a timely basis and the Board endeavours to take the necessary actions to  MEZE =@ ¥ I8 NI M N EE i UBRER
ensure compliance with the required practices and standards including A EFRNIZE  BRELEEATHH
the provisions of the CG Code. &3 »
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

HtERERHRE

1B 15

In Technical Productions Holding Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present its environmental,
social and governance report in accordance with the environmental, social
and governance reporting guidelines as set out in Appendix 20 to the
GEM Listing Rules. The principal businesses of the Group is to provide
visual display solutions with visual display hardware and related services.
The reporting period for this report is from 1 June 2019 to 31 May 2020.

The Group is committed to improving business performance to enhance
stakeholders’ value without compromising the environmental and social
aspect, so that positive impact can be achieved on both the Group and
the community. The Group always thrive to meet the expectation of the
Group's stakeholders as well as to achieve the following objectives:

o To protect the environment

o To nurture and empower the Group’s employees

o To support the local community

This ESG report, which has been reviewed and approved by the Board,
include data on environmental key performance indicators (“KPI”),
focuses on the principal activities of the Group — the provision of visual
display solutions with visual display hardware and related services, and
include the following key subsidiaries:

° ITP (HK)

. Shiji Tiansheng Cultural Communication (Shenzhen) Limited

o Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng Technology Limited

o Shanghai Yingtegao Stage Arts Limited

o InTechPro Macau Limited

Below are the Group’s commitments to each of the focus area under our
corporate social responsibility framework:

Environment Protection

The Group attaches great importance to environmental protection and
also implements sustainable initiatives in areas such as energy saving,
water saving, waste management, air quality management into its daily

operations so as to minimize the use of resources and reduce various
emissions. We adopted the following policies to protect the environment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Emissions

Discharge into water and land

As the Group is principally engaged in providing visual display solution,
the Group does not have significant wastes or emission discharged into
water and land. In addition, the Group does not produce a significant
volume of hazardous waste from the Group’s business process. The major
wastes are solid non-hazardous wastes such as office paper generated
from the Group’s operations.

Greenhouse Gasses Emissions

The Group implemented a number of measures to reduce greenhouse
gas emissions in order to alleviate the impacts to the environment. The
Group also encourages employees to maximize the use of electronic
communication and carry out general discussions and communication
through long-distance telephone calls or other online communication
tools in order to reduce non-essential business trips and avoid increasing
the pollutants emitted by the use of transportation.

The major sources of air and greenhouse gas (GHG) emission that the
Group associated are energy consumptions in regard to the purchased
electricity used in the Group's offices and daily operation.

The total GHG generated by the Group during the previous four years
ended 31 May 2020 were 45,930Kg CO.-eq, 47,408Kg CO:-eq,
30,630Kg CO:-eq and 30,826Kg CO:-eq respectively, comprising direct
emission from motor vehicle gasoline, indirect emission from purchased
electricity and other indirect emission from fresh water usage. The
decrease of direct emission on motor vehicle gasoline and other indirect
emission in the year ended 31 May 2020 as compared to year ended 31
May 2019 is mainly due to business interruption by the attack of the new
coronavirus for the second half of the current reporting period and
temporary closure of the warehouse and office in China, Macau and
Hong Kong result in less Gasoline and Water purchased. The increase of
indirect mission is due to a additional staff quarter is rented hence
increase the Group's purchased electricity consumption during the year
ended 31 May 2020.
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Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 May 2017 31 May 2018 31 May 2019 31 May 2020
Emission (in Emission (in Emission (in Emission (in
Scope of GHG Emission  Emission Source Kg CO:-eq) Kg CO:-eq) Kg CO:-eq) Kg COz-eq)
BE-Z—t BE-Z-N\ BE-ZT—-H BE-Z-%
FARA=+— HFHA=+- HFHA=+- HFHA=+-
BLEFEHK HLFE#HK BLEFEHKR HLEFEHK
(FRCO, Bk (FRCO, M (FRCOHM (F7RCO,#HH
RERBHHREE HE R RR E—%% E—%% E—%% E—EXN
Scope 1
#iE1
Direct Emission Motor Vehicle
Gasoline 8,538 4,692 11,327 9,072
BEEBEN W B) B )5 h
Scope 2
#iE2
Indirect Emission Purchased Electricity 21,997 25,487 35,679 36,677
il 2 Bk B B E
Scope 3
gE3
Other Indirect Emission Fresh Water Usage 291 451 402 181
H b BN B 2R K A
Total 30,826 30,630 47,408 45,930
BET
Company vehicles with less exhaust emission RATKESREEKRSE
. Company vehicles are checked and repaired regularly in order to e BIEESMERERERESEERHE
enhance the fuel efficiency and to reduce reasonable exhaust W THIE AN EWMETHRE RS
emission. & o
o Company continued to use an electric vehicle with zero emissions in e ARAREE_E_EFHAA=1+—
the year ended 31 May 2020 for transportation of staffs and HIEFEEEE {E }EH WEGEWNEE T
customers. HEXEBEIREP -

o Staffs are encouraged to use public transport for office duty e

whenever possible to save fuel and minimize emission.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE HEgRELWRE(E)

Indoor air quality policy EREREEEE
e No Smoking is allowed in office area. o HMRNEIHANEEIFIRE -

o Air Conditioners are cleaned regularly.

e Air Purifier are used in the office to enhance air quality. e MAEFAZERFLEBZURZTZE=ERE
% o
e Housekeeping of office is conducted on a regular basis. e TEHEMTMAZTABERE-

e Windows in the office are opened during office hours to induce o  ¥¥F AR %Q\Zﬁ BEIT R & P AR
fresh air into the office area whenever possible. =3 NIRRT ]

There was no non-compliance noted in relation to environmental laws REZ-"Z-_ZEFR A=+ —"HILFE -

and regulations for the year ended 31 May 2020. WERNEFIRIBLENER 28k

Use of Resources ERER

The Group is committed to conserving resources for the purposes of AEBEH AR ER  NIRERE MIE
protecting the environment and enhancing operation efficiency. To SREWE - AEITAEBLHIEHEREN

pursue the Group’s commitment of environmental protection, the Group 7¥< # ANEECETZEEE WIRS8ER
has implemented multiple measures in enhancing energy efficiency, 2% « 5 4R {F B 5 2 B K & B8R M
minimizing the use of paper, reducing water and energy consumption - B ET{TANE B REBHRERLE
and driving behavioural changes of employees. Through active monitoring B &EREFER > KREBEH O D A EEF K2
and managing the use of resources, the Group aims to reduce the fKZA RANEBETHEHRS o

Group's operating costs as well as our carbon footprint.

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

Indicators 31 May 2017 31 May 2018 31 May 2019 31 May 2020

BE BZE Bz Qz

—E—t& —E-N\F —E-RE —ECEF

ERA=+—H FRA=1+—H ERA=+—H EFA=+—-H

EE tEE tEE tEE LEE

Total Electricity Consumption (kWh) 2#FE & (T RE) 40,736 47,198 69,959 80,857
Average electricity consumption per B#EEFHEES

employee (kWh/employees) (TRE/TRE) 496 530 736 888
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

B EREARE ()

Energy

The following table sets out the energy consumption of the Group (ESG

Indicator: A2.1) during the year ended 31 May 2020:

o Room lights and air conditioners must be switched off when they e

are not in use.
o Use of natural light is maximized as far as practical.
o Use separate light switches for different light zones.

o Air-conditioner filter and fan coil are cleaned regularly.

BEIR
TREIIAEEEE -
=+ HLEFEZREE
BRI T A2.1)

—_ZEF A A
(faii Herk®E

N8 PR B B B = O AR B e = 5

. EmEEMEBAAK-
. TRARAREABIEERM -

s TFEHBEAEHEARELEBREE

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
Indicators 31 May 2017 31 May 2018 31 May 2019 31 May 2020
'HE BZE BE QZ
—E-t& —E-N\F —2-nF —BC-EF
EA=+-ALt EA=+-HLE EA=+-HLE EA=F+-HLE
ER FE FE FE FE
Total Water Consumption (m?) HIEIKE (LHHK) 291 1,062 998 905
Average water consumption per LEEBIHEKE
employee (m*employees) ((IAFX/EE) 3.5 11.9 10.5 9.9
Water K
The following table sets out the water consumption of the Group (ESG TR H I AEFBREHEE - T = ; FHA
Indicator: A2.2) during the year ended 31 May 2020: =t+t—HULIEEHNEXKEGEE @ kE
JRTEIR 1 A2.2) ¢

o Water taps are constantly checked to avoid the water dipping.

o Leakage tests on concealing piping and checking for overflowing

tanks are regularly carried out.

Other Office Consumable

. Stationaries are distributed on a needed basis and reusable e

stationaries are employed.

o Other than formal documents, paperless working environment is

promoted in the Group.

o Recycled papers are encouraged to be used whenever possible e

when photocopy for internal documentation.

o Used ink cartridges are either recycled through public recycle binor e

collected by suppliers.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

s RERBKEBRAERHRKER-

e THHRBREBEETEBRAARRE
KB 2 B g m ©
H {3 A FEM

NEEESE RAREEFERE-

o BREAXMIN REBEHETERH
IN'@
BENA X - B E A BEE A E
Y ) PR AR O
EEAE2BBAKIKRED R K
P 7R [ A o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R g kEfWmE (&)

The Environmental and Natural Resources

The nature of the Group’s business does not involve in any significant
impacts on the environmental and natural resources. The relevant
principles and policies on managing emission and use of resources are
already disclosed above.

Social

The Group recognizes the Group's success and market leadership are
closely linked to the support from our dedicated, hard-working and task-
oriented employees. The Groups recognizes that employees are the
Group’s most valuable assets and vital to achieving the Group’s
sustainability and long-term growth.

Therefore the Group is committed to safeguarding the legitimate rights
and interests of employees, maintaining their physical and mental health
and providing various benefit, in addition to providing vast opportunities
of career development for every employee, striving to match employee’s
personal and business development goals of the Group through a
comprehensive training system, effective incentive mechanism and fair
competition platform, so that the mutual benefits for employees and the
enterprise can be achieved.

Employment Practice

The Group is committed to build a harmonious working atmosphere for
employees through encouraging mutual respect which ultimately
promotes work creativity, flexibility and commitment.

As at 31 May 2020, the Group had 91 (2019: 92) employees. In order to
cope with the continuously growing of business scale, the Group acquires
talents from different aspects and backgrounds to join the Group’s
globalized team. The Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and
regulations in the Group’s employment process, such as recruitment,
dismissal, promotion and setting up of remuneration packages of
employees regardless of where the Group operates. The legitimate rights
and interests of employees are protected in accordance with laws and
regulations.

Employment

o The Group attaches great importance to the basic rights and
interests of the employees, the entering into of employment
contracts with all employees, and the provision of relevant social
insurances and employee’s compensation insurance and medical
insurance to all employees.

RERAXRER
AEBEBEET S RUBERRAER
EEEMEAVE EBHRREARER

ERARAMEBERCR EXHEKE -

e

AEERR AKREHRRTIHRLM
NEEMEESNER FHTEREFE
tRETFTHXKERHRE  AEEREL - ER
DAKSEREENEE HAKERER
EHEREFER -

At AEEHIRNFREREN G AR
@ RBEEFS LR BRHSERMN X

AERERUAEBRXERKE BEBRE

RGBSR & A TS

BN EREEBRARBEEERZ  #

mMArAIEECEER -

EBEER

REER IR EBEHIEEEE BES

Eﬁ%ﬂ%lf’ﬁiﬁiﬁ MBA LIRS T1EAI
BRI R RE -

R-ZZB_ZEFRA=1+—H XEEFI
2(CE-NF :RB)EE-RBEHEE
MOEBRER  AEERRATRTESR
MAAMAREBENZREKA - £

SEEMREERR A5EERMBERE
RE - R BT RRILIEE M
BB ETHBENNER - BEMNAIA
B XA FORRPTRE ©

(A

s AKEREEREEMNEAfn &
MERBAVEEEGR  AMERE
BERHEFHELERR EBEMERR
KB EIRR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
B R R E R RS ()

. The Group is an equal opportunities employer, committed to e AEBRETHEFLZFRIMNEE

eliminating sex, age, race, disability and religious discrimination in AR EBMEDPHMER - F&t - &
employment and emphasizing on the performance and experience BBERFTHER  REANHBE
of the staffs in promotion or recruitment. A fair and structural staff FRAETIXRBELEH - AEEC &
performance assessment is set for making promotion and salary HEFRMFRAFZSHELAF REBI
increment decisions. Staff appraisal will be conducted annually to WMETHEXNEZ BEHETELE
assess work performance. SELART A TYEE R -

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating HZ _—_Z_ZFHR A=+ —HILFE '

to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working ETETEBBENEE FHELET T

hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and  {ERFfE - R EEHE HMEeFTE  ZHEE X

other benefits and welfare noted in year ended 31 May 2020. I AR e B At il 2 Ko 4@ I 00K 2 OB AR o

The following table sets out the workforce by gender, employment type, TXR&EHIIR_E_ZEFHRA=+—BKMKE

age group and geographical region (KPI Indicator: B1.1) as at 31 May 3| - B {E 48 5 - F #& 20 5l f2 b 32 & 15 2] &>

2020 and the employee turnover rate by gender, age group and (KPI}EIZ:B1 1) B HEREBEE T -
geographical region (KPI Indicator: B1.2) for the year ended 31 May 2020: SR A=+—HIEFEZRMER] - Fi5 4 5l
NMoHb 32 (@ 15 (KPR 1% : B1.2) Bl D WU fE B Rk

8%
Employee
Workforce turnover rate
Headcount %

BENBAR BEERBERF I

Gender 14 B
Male B 82 9.7
Female peg 3 9 —
Employment type 12 1E %8 B
Administrative staff THUE B 11 N/A “NiiE A
Operation staff Z2iEER 80 N/A i
Age group FH A R
30 and below 30BR M IA TR 41 12.2
31-40 31340 5% 37 8.1
41-50 41 5% -50 5% 11 —
Above 50 50B% A £ 2 —
Geographical region b 32 [ 15
Hong Kong BB 17 5.9
PRC X 61 9.8
Macau ! 13 7.7
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R g kEfWmE (&)

Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to provide a healthy and safe workplace to
its employees. The promotion of occupational and health measures
at workplace are regarded as essential to our businesses and
operations of the Group. Appropriate occupational and health
manuals relevant to the Group’s businesses are adopted by the core
business units. Risk assessments of workstations are conducted
constantly to identify and assess the risks to the safety and health
of the employees, and to decide whether existing measures are
adequate.

First aid kits are located at convenient locations and are properly
maintained in the office, workshop(s) and warehouse(s).

Workplace safety posters were display at prominent location in the
warehouse(s) of the Group to remind the staff of safety.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating
to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards noted in year 2019/20.

The following table sets out the number and rate of work-related fatalities
of the Group (KPI Indicator: B2.1) for the year ended 31 May 2020:

RERZE
s AKHBHAEHEERH -—EREZR
ENTESH BEIIESMAERR
XRRERERASEERREZDN
ERA - BRLOXBEMNDRMNE
AEEEZHHBAORERZRET
T #5548 4 22 5 vt B 1T R B AT A
RERLFHRELZEREETED
R YHEEREEEEEEH -

e RPAZE BHEMEESEANSHNNM
ERNESNE TZEHEHE-

s RAKEREMNBRUERRETIIES
FZa2/®m REIEAEIELXS -

RIE-N/"ZFEE HEEREBREH
ZETHERBEERERERLZIBERLEN
MRERER -

TERBINEHE=2_FT_FTFRA=F+—HIL
FEAEEATEBEMIETHASLL
& (KPIFE1Z : B2.1) :

Rate
Lt &

Headcount

AR

Work-related fatalities

AT EREMmET

For the year ended 31 May 2020, the Group has not incurred any lost
days due to work injury (KPI Indicator: B2.2).

Development and Training

The Group believes that training is an important path to improve
the overall work quality and offer comprehensive development to
the employees. The Group encourages our employees to attend
external or internal training courses to enhance their competence
and job-related knowledge.

Experienced/Senior employees will provide supervision to the
newcomers/subordinates in order to enhance communication and
team spirits within the Group, and to improve their technical skills
and managerial capability.

a5y 25 = g Sbdlasge Bl = S = |5 ([ 42 JE 0 ZS
EEYEELATMAEA IEIELIEAB(KP
FE1E 1 B2.2) ©

TR RIE

c AEERABISRABEIGES
BREEBBZEREMEERM . &
5 B 5 ) 3 0 B 2 A 50 36 o5 7 25 8 )
RI2 LA N3 1 5 K08 ) B T AR B A0
# o

s RKRREEN/SRNESMBEN AR
EI/T%?ET/\?E’EFE’QE" LA b 5g 7

SERMHEBLEREN XiRE
Hixfiriepe R EEREN -

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited =& = ZTHFF 3}

47



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIS ?\i&kk}m HE (&)

The following table sets out the percentage of employees trained by Tx&HIBEE T -_TFRA=+—8 1+

gender and employment type (KPI Indicator: B3.1) and the average FEAEEIZMER NMERENZE DB I

training hours completed per employee by gender and employment type (KPl & 8 & % b (KPIFE 12 : B3.1) R 1% 14 B & (&

Indicator: B3.2) of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2020: BENZSHNEGREE KT I FEHE
2 (KPIFETR © B3.2) ¢

Percentage of  Average training hours
employees trained completed per employee

ZiIEE BEEETAX
Bk 20 F B Y
% Hour
Aot 53 S
Gender el
Male B 7.7 20
Female o 22 18
Employment type EEE R
Administrative staff THREEB 1.1 16
Operation staff EiERE 8.8 20
Labour Standard BT EE
J The Group respects human rights and has a zero-tolerance policy e REFBEFAETHERBH LT
towards the employment of forced labour and child labour. Upon LETITHREAZAHEK - ABAEH
joining the Group, each staff is required to fill in a recruitment BN S8BT EES —HMHHBEXRKE-
form. Should the staff provide false identity or false personal MEIRHEHERBRINXEREAZLZ
particulars, he/she would be considered to have committed serious BB ABREERAEBARL
breach of the Group’s rules and regulations and his/her employment RAEHIW S B4R (H R B 1R -

would be terminated immediately.
There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating #HZz-—_ZT-_ZEZFH A=+ —HILFE

to preventing child and forced labour noted in year ended 31 May 2020. MEREBEHILERE T KRS 4 T HHE
BERER -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R g kEfWmE (&)

Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The goods from the suppliers must be checked by the Group’s
qualified engineer for product quality and safety and will be stored
in our warehouse.

All parts suppliers of our electronic equipment must comply with
national or international safety standard.

If the suppliers fail to maintain the safety standard of their products,
the Group will eliminate the aforesaid supplier from the approved

supplier list.

Annual supplier evaluation will be conduct by management.

Product Responsibility

The Group poses a fair marketing concept that commits not making
dishonest allegation of our competitors in order to mislead the
customers during their decision-making. Moreover, the Group
would not acquire confidential information of a competitor via
espionage, the subordination of the competitor's employees or
through any other improper means.

The Group has committed to supply the goods and services that
meet the reasonable expectations of our customers. We provide
customers with effective mechanism to lodge complaints and
manage such complaints with due care. Besides, the Group respects
the confidentiality of our customers and their commercial
information. We do not disclose such information to protect their
privacy.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating
to health, safety, advertising, bid-rigging and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress noted in year
ended 31 May 2020.

LEEDN

it JE 58 I8

e HEBRHENEDEARKAEESER
TRERMETEREERZERE I
R B A -

. BIRRHNFETHERBASAH
RABEB R 2B

e HRARERFKERXEEENHE
B ARERSREHEH‘ERRES
G

s EEEBFHHERETHME-

EmEE

s AKBERFAFEHMNER T8
HBEFHTFRETERERERP
RE WS AEBETERBREFE
B EREFHTFNESNTMEAM
FTEEFREDNBFHTFORTE
o

s AEEABRRUTATFAENEZE
MEmERE AEEREERNE
PRAF#EIYZZREIEAR BRI
S REEBEEREFPANEBERER
MERZE TERBELBEEE LR
EHRFHFLE

BE_ZT_ZTFRAA=T—HALFE" #
BEERBBIEHER KRS D @A RE-
72 BE HBEEILEEE RIS
MRERER -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
B R R E R RS ()

Anti-corruption RES

e The Group refuses bribery, corruption, extortion and money e  ANEBEERHBIEE B85 Y
laundering activities. Employees shall report any misconduct to its REKETAE EERRAEENREE
manager. AAETR-

e The Company is listed on the Growth Enterprise Market Board of o  AA SR ZAGEM EM - B¢t ¥ E
the Stock Exchange and has strict guidelines for directors and senior = & = f?& 1 E §il E B & 1) Bl a8 & 3R
management for any disclosure of conflict of interest. Besides, WEHES - B EEXaNEERE
directors or senior management are required to take certain hours BEAES —TERHENE -

of training each year.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating  E 2T FRA=T— EI -FE - #

to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering noted in year ended 31 #EE N BRI  BFEH R - MFLLERN

May 2020. HEERER -

Community HE

Community Investment HERE

e Social responsibility is one of the Group’s cultures. We are o HE&@FERAEE L EZHKS
committed to striving for the betterment of society and hold Do BMBNAREHLERM AL ER
strongly the belief that a business organization should not detach rEABT RN ET -

itself from its social responsibility.
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Report of the Board of Directors

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 May 2020.

Corporate Reorganisation and Share Offer

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law as an exempted company with limited liability on 4
November 2016.

The Shares have been listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange by way of
the Share Offer since 14 June 2017.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 26 to the audited consolidated
financial statements. The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
visual display solution services for concerts and events in Hong Kong,
Macau, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and Taiwan.

Results and Dividends

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2020
and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in the
audited consolidated financial statements on pages 86 to 89 of this
annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 May 2020.

Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five years is set out on page 172 of this annual report.

EEEHE

EEMAZBBE_T_TFRAA=1—
ALFE ESTEREERAARALER
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

E=gHE (@)

Significant Investments and Future Plans for
Material Investments and Capital Assets

During the year ended 31 May 2020, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint venture. Except for those included in the section
headed “Statement of Business Objectives and Use of Proceeds” for
inclusion in the Prospectus, the Group had no definite future plans for
material investments and capital assets.

Use of Proceeds and Comparison of Business
Objectives with Actual Business Progress

Details of the use of proceeds and comparison of business objectives with
actual business progress are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 18 to 19 of this annual report.
Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 May 2020 are set out in note 14 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

Bank Borrowings

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group at 31 May 2020 are set out
in note 22 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

Interest Capitalised

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31 May
2020.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year

ended 31 May 2020 are set out in note 18 to the audited consolidated
financial statements.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

BE_ZT-_ZTFRA=1+—"HIEE K
EEUTETMNEALE EARBERLE
MBAR BERRRAEEAR -BRBRE
RBIXEBEZEHEEMESRERE] —&HA
B AEBUTERERALERELAEE
A ERERARETE -

FIEREMARRRE B RRER
EBEE 2 LEE

IR BRERESNECEEREREE
ZHBNFBIRRNATREISETI9E[EE
Bkt —5 -

ME BERKE
BE_ZFT_TFAA=+T—HLEFE &
SEVE BERIXEBENEIHFBIHNE
B EUBERERM 14 -

MITER

RZE_ZEFRA=+—HB NEEET
BRFBIHNEEZE S USRI E22 -
FEERE
HE_ZT-_ZTFRA=+—HLEEE K
E B EE AR ERAFE o

% 2%
HE-_ZTZ-_ZTFRA=+—HLEEE K

NRARAZ B FBHINRNEEZEREYB
wAHIEE18 -



Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year ended 31 May 2020 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity in notes 19 and 33(a) to the audited consolidated
financial statements respectively.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 May 2020, the reserves of the Company available for distribution
to shareholders amounted to HK$56,877,662. Under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company may be
applied for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders subject to
the provisions of the Company’s articles of association and provided that
immediately following the payment of distributions or dividends, the
Company shall be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

The Company did not redeem its listed securities, nor did the Company or
any of its subsidiaries purchase, cancel or sell any of such listed securities
for the year ended 31 May 2020.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 May 2020 and
up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (Chairman)
Mr. Tam Chun Yu

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Kai Sing
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun
Ms. Loh Lai Ping Phillis

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting,
at least one-third of the Directors shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

E=gHE (@)

(ERi]

BE_Z_TFRA=+—HLEHFE K
SERARANFEESDFED BN
ERAEIRWTIIORLEREES M BR
= MI5E33() °

o] 4t 7 K 15k

RZZE_EFRA=+—"H ' KAAAH
K T B ER B 5 8 /556,877,662 78 T © 1B 1 B
SEHERRE ARRZKG R E R
ERRRIMBREELE DRI AFKE - H
EXARNRIEABERMBAUIKXHAER B
RRABREREL BB D IR TR ERE
BAERNSNERBESEBRERZER -

BE LEIREE LTRSS

BE_Z_FTFRA=+—BLEFEE ' &
AR EELRE EFMES AARIKEE
B ARMERE FHIEERR A
ER EMES -

=

BE_Z_ZFAA=+—HLFERE
EXFERY ARFEFEMT

BITES

BIEERE (X E)
BEFTEE

BYFBTES

FRUKEE
FRELEE
BB L

1RSI RF 1080 R EERRAF
ARE ELZH2-—MBEEEELE=
FRERE— K- REEFHAHBERE
f -

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited =& = ZTHFF 3} 53



54

Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

E=gHE (@)

Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent and meet the independent guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of
Appointment

(a) Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated
by not less than one month’s notice served by either party on the
other. The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.
(b) Non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors

Each of the non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of three years, which may be terminated by not less than one
month’s notice served by either party on the other. The term of
service of a Director is subject to the provisions on retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than
contracts expiring or determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries, as
applicable within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation).
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Emoluments of Directors and Five Highest Paid
Individuals

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The
Company also looks into individual Director’'s competence, duties,
responsibilities, performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 9(a) and 34 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 70 to 75 of this annual report.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests
in Contracts

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors or an entity
connected with any of them had any material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, parent company or subsidiaries of the parent company was a
party and subsisting at any time during or at the end of the year ended
31 May 2020.

As at 31 May 2020, no contract of significance had been entered into
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of their subsidiaries.
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Director’s Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt
Securities

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended
31 May 2020 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any of its
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or
chief executive of the Company (including their spouses or children under
18 years of age) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its specified undertakings as defined in the
Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation or to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Management Contracts

As at 31 May 2020, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and/or administration contracts in respect of the whole or
any principal business of the Company.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests
in Competing Business

During the year ended 31 May 2020 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Directors are not aware of any business and interest of the
Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that
compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any other
conflict of interests which any such person has or may have with the
Group from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Compliance of Non-Competition Undertakings

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, Mr. Chang Yu-shu, UCP Co., Ltd, Ms. Ching
Hsiang-yun and Next Vision (the “Controlling Shareholders”) entered into
a deed of non-competition dated 22 May 2017 (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) in favour of the Company (for itself and each of its
subsidiaries), pursuant to which each of the Controlling Shareholders has,
unconditionally and irrevocably, undertaken to the Company in the Deed
of Non-Competition that he/she/it will not, and will procure his/her/its
close associates (other than members of the Group) not to, for himself/
herself/itself or jointly with or acting for any other person, firm or
company as shareholder(s), director(s), partner(s), agent(s), employee(s) or
otherwise, and whether or not for profit, remuneration or other purpose,
directly or indirectly be involved or engaged in or undertake any business
(other than the business of the Group) that directly or indirectly competes,
or may compete, with the Group'’s business or undertaking (the “Restricted
Activity”), or hold shares or interest in any companies or business that
compete directly or indirectly with the business engaged by the Group
from time to time except where the Controlling Shareholders and/or his/
her/its close associates hold less than 5% of the total issued shares of any
company (whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange or other stock
exchange) which is engaged in any business that is or may be in
competition with any business engaged by any member of the Group and
they do not control 10% or more of the composition of the board of
directors of such company.

Further, each of the Group’s Controlling Shareholders has undertaken
that if any new business investment or other business opportunity relating
to the Restricted Activity (the “Competing Business Opportunity”) is
identified by or made available to him/her/it or any of his/her/its close
associates, he/shef/it shall, and shall procure that his/her/its close associates
shall, refer such Competing Business Opportunity to the Company on a
timely basis.

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-
Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)
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Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the Company of &ERKREHERAAQAGEREE FHH
his/her/its compliance with the Deed of Non- Competition from the HiREZAREHRHEHBETIHFZLIE - B
Listing Date up to the date of this annual report. The independent non- YV IEHITEEE TS HEIB R U RS
executive Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed T J]x Hx HFRETHHREEAFTHRAHHE

that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have been
complied by each of the Controlling Shareholders from the Listing Date
to the date of this annual report.

BFEREBEHE TN ARGBSZA

Disclosure of Directors’ Interests EEERZEE

(a) Interests and short positions of Directors and chief (a) EER T ETHRABERAE R T

executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations

As at the date of this annual report, the interests and short
positions of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part V of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the register required
to be kept therein; or (iii) pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by directors to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

(i) Interests in the Company

REMEBZENRM  HEK
REREFNEZRAAE

RAFERBAY EEREARa&ST
Eﬁz/\?-\fﬁwx RISk H B LR (T &
BFHEMHE fbﬂﬁﬂ%XV*K)E’]HﬁT"‘
m%%ﬁ&mgﬁw&ﬁ()m&
MBI FEVHBEIRSD AN S
ARl RBRHERRAR (B
BIEFESKBEGKI A BIEXHEEE
AR BEENERRAR)  RGVRE
B H N B S K 5535218 A B A #% 15
HEFBEZERMMESZ AR %
(i) 1R 45 GEM £ 71 #8 Rl 8 5.46 & £5.67
BEBEZEESLER %%EHIJ,A%D@JZIS“
AR FTH R RRB T

() ARAEZR

Number of
Shares Percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1) shareholding
iigvi g

EERE B RatE (Bt3E1) ERESL

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 600,000,000 (L) 75.0%

15 5 3 55 & XA E R (M 5E2)

Notes: B 5

1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. Next Vision was beneficially owned by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis as to
75%. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis was deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Next Vision.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

(ii) Interest in associated corporation of the Company

Name of
Name of Director

associated corporation Capacity

E=gHE (@)

(i) RARABEEEEFTER

Number of
shares Percentage of
(Note 1) shareholding

g g=|

Exsns HEEEER 87 (BF=E1) BEREDL
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis ~ Next Vision (Note 2) Beneficial owner 7,500 (L) 75%
B A Next Vision (ff 7£2) EmA A

Notes: B &

1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. Next Vision held 75% of issued Shares and was therefore a holding
company of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, none
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part V of the SFO (including interests and/or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (i) pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered into the register required to be kept therein; or (iii)
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by directors to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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(b) Interests and short positions of the substantial (b) FERRREMALTRAELQTF

60

shareholders and other persons in the shares and RO REBROPNERZR
underlying shares of the Company KB

As at the date of this annual report, so far as it is known to the
Directors, the following persons (not being a Director or chief
executive of the Company) had or were deemed to have interests
or short positions in Shares or underlying Shares which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest

RAFHRBH BESHA TH A
T (RRAREEXAZSITHRABRIN
A& SRR RR 5 AP kB S R B
EARTERARAIREZES MBEK
BIE336IXMEAFTEMNELTM R
BRAELHABKRAEXVEE2R3IDH
BXMATFAEBENERSIAR -

Number of

Shares held/
Interested Percentage of
(Note 1) shareholding

BE BB
EER
v g
BREH B4 Eaty (fFzE1) ERESX
Next Vision (Note 2) Beneficial owner 600,000,000 (L) 75.0%
Next Vision (Ff 5¥2) EmBEAA
Notes: B & -

1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. Next Vision was beneficially owned by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis as to 75%.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis was deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Next Vision.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the
Directors have not been notified by any person who had interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Share Option Scheme

The then sole shareholder of the Company conditionally adopted on 19
May 2017 the Share Option Scheme. A summary of the principal terms of
the Share Option Scheme is set out as follows:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in
accordance with Chapter 23 of the Listing Rules and is established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) had or may have made to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with the view to achieving the following
objectives: (i) motivate the Eligible Participants (as defined below) to
optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and (i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going
business relationship with the Eligible Participants (as defined
below) whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-
term growth of the Group.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to the
following persons (collectively the “Eligible Participants”) to
subscribe for such number of new Shares as the Board may
determine: (i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (i) any directors
(including non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (iii) any
advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors and such
other persons who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute
or have contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.
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Total number of Shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and percentage of
issued Shares

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no share option has been granted
under the Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of Shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 80,000,000 Shares, representing
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including both exercised and outstanding options) to each Eligible
Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any
further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject
to: (i) the issue of a circular by the Company containing the identity
of the Eligible Participant, the numbers of and terms of the options
to be granted (and options previously granted to such participant),
the information as required under Rules 23.02(2)(d) and the
disclaimer required under 23.02(4) of the GEM Listing Rules; and (ii)
the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time
with such Eligible Participant and his close associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) (or his/her associates if the Eligible Participant is a
core connected person) abstaining from voting.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

The period within which an option must be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and
performance target

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the Directors to each grantee, but shall not be more
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is deemed to
be granted and accepted. A grantee may be required to achieve
any performance targets as the Board may then specify in the grant
before any options granted under the Share Option Scheme can be
exercised.

The minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must be
held before it can be exercised except otherwise imposed by the
Directors.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price
must be at least the higher of: (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on
the date of grant, which must be a day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in securities; (i) the
average of the official closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of a Share.

The amount payable on application or acceptance
of the option and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made or loans
for such purposes must be repaid

The grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant on or before the relevant acceptance
date of the option.
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9. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise terminated or
amended, will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the
Adoption Date, i.e. 19 May 2017.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share options were
granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme. There were no outstanding share options under the Share
Option Scheme as at the date of this annual report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in the sub-section headed
“Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 May
2020.

Interests of the Compliance Adviser

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed Shenwan Hongyuan Capital (H.K.) Limited (“SWHY") to be
the compliance adviser. As informed by SWHY, neither SWHY nor any of
its directors or employees or close associates had any interest in the share
capital of the Company or any member of the Group (including options
or rights to subscribe for such securities, if any) or otherwise in relation to
the Company which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant
to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules (except for the compliance adviser
agreement dated 26 May 2017 entered into between the Company and
SWHY (the “Compliance Adviser Agreement”)) as at 31 May 2020.

Pursuant to the Compliance Adviser Agreement, SWHY has received and
will receive fees for acting as the Company’s compliance adviser.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

As far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year
ended 31 May 2020, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

Major Customers and Suppliers

For the year ended 31 May 2020, the aggregate amount of turnover
attributed to the Group's largest and the five largest customers accounted
for approximately 28.8% and 59.3% (2019: approximately 29.1% and
75.5%) of the total revenue of the Group, respectively. For the year
ended 31 May 2020, the Group's purchase from the largest and the five
largest suppliers of equipment accounted for approximately 56.7% and
89.7% (2019: approximately 38.7% and 74.8%) of the total purchases
of the Group, respectively. At no time during the year ended 31 May
2020 did the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) have any interest in the Group’s
major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions

During the year ended 31 May 2020, the Group did not enter into any
transactions which need to be disclosed as connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Details of the material related party transactions are set out in note 29 to
the audited consolidated financial statements of this annual report. These
related party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Remuneration to key management personnel of the Group, including
Directors described in note 9(a) to the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements are continuing connected transactions exempt from
the connected transaction requirements under Rule 20.93 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and ensuring a high
level of corporate governance standards and will review and improve the
corporate governance practices and standards constantly. Except for the
deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules from the Listing Date up to the
date of this annual report. Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Yeung
Ho Ting Dennis is the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company. In view of Mr. Yeung's role in day-to-day operations and
management of the Group since April 2009, the Board believes that it is
in the best interest of the Group to have Mr. Yeung taking up both roles
for effective management and business development. Therefore, the
Directors consider that the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance and the Board is of the view
that this management structure is effective for the Group’s operations
and sufficient checks and balances are in place.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 39 of this
annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws of
Caymans Islands or the Articles which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Subject to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), every Director is entitled under the Company’s Articles of
Association to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or
supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as
he or she shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Company has maintained a directors and officers liability insurance
during the year ended 31 May 2020. To the extent as permitted by the
Companies Ordinance, a directors’ liability insurance is currently in place
to protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 May 2020, the Group had 91 employees (2019: 92 employees).
The remuneration package the Group offered to the Group’s employees
includes salary, bonuses and other cash subsidies. In general, the Group
determines employees’ salaries based on each employee’s qualifications,
position and seniority. The Group has designed an annual review system
to assess the performance of the Group’s employees, which forms the
basis of the Group’s decisions with respect to salary raises, bonuses and
promotions.
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Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its key stakeholders, including its employees, customers
and suppliers, to meet its immediate and long-term business goals.
During the year ended 31 May 2020, there were no material and
significant disputes between the Group and its employees, customers and
suppliers.

The Group recognises employees as one of its valuable assets and strictly
complies with the labour laws and regulations and reviews regularly the
existing staff benefits for improvement. Apart from the reasonable
remuneration packages, the Group also offers other employee benefits,
such as medical insurance. The Group provides good quality services to its
customers and keeps a database for direct communications with recurring
customers for developing a long-term trusted relationship. The Group
also maintains effective communication and develops a long-term
business relationship with the suppliers.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 May 2020
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position can
be found in the management discussion and analysis set out on pages 6
to 19 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this report.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The environmental, social and governance report, which forms part of
this report, is set out on pages 40 to 50 of this annual report.

Annual General Meeting

The forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the Company
will be held on 3 November 2020, the notice of which shall be sent to the

shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Articles, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.
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Closure of Register of Members EEhHEROGBFELTE

In order to ascertain entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming AR TZE L EEREKEETF j(A &E/\A

AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from  F## ZEHEIKR - KX 7 }i—;ﬁA_ L — TBE+

Thursday, 29 October 2020 to Tuesday, 3 November 2020, both days H -+ hB(EHME-—_ZE_-_ZFF+— A

inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. “B(Ef ) (e EMB)EEHIER
BRFEERLFE  BHEBT MR TR
HBFEER -

Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer s R & BEEERM B EZHNEHDBE XE

forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with  ERBEKRE  REBEER _ZEZ_ZFF 1+ A

the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor —+ N \H(EH=) FFEOE=+581% O

Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, ARNAGHNEBEBRHNBPLELD KR EEHEAH

Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 28 October 2020. ZARARAR (U BEFS 2 5 K8 HE 183
S A R L 541E)

Events After the Reporting Period REHEEE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors are not aware of any B ARFERTIFHEEIN  BEEHHM R =
significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequentto —ZF R A=+—HEB L EE AREEH

31 May 2020 and up to the date of approval of this report. B EBE L TR ETHENE NS
Auditor % S ED

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2020 HZE-—Z - FTERA=T+—BIEENLE
have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who shall retire at the A BB HREDHE R KB SIS
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offered =iz MEYREFREBAE AL FIRE
themselves for re-appointment. WHEERRBEEBRET-

There was no changes in the Company’s auditor during the past three  ZX/2 5 i@ 4 = F I 8 B k2 HE o

years.
By order of the Board AE B DM
In Technical Productions Holdings Limited In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
Yeung Ho Ting Dennis FE
Chairman BEE
27 August 2020 —EZFNA=++tH
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Senior Management
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Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (#7%%E), aged 47, was appointed as a
Director on 4 November 2016 and was re-designated as an executive
Director, chief executive officer and chairman of the Board on 10
November 2016. Mr. Yeung is also the founder, chief executive officer of
the Group and a director of each of ITP (BVI), ITP (HK), Intechpro Macau
Limited, and the executive director, general manager and legal
representative of each of Shiji Tiansheng Cultural Communication
(Shenzhen) Limited (42 KBS {LEECRINERAF]) and Shanghai
Yingtegao Stage Arts Limited (/855 =8 & Z1iT AR 2 7). Mr. Yeung
founded the Group in April 2009 and is primarily responsible for devising
strategies to develop the Group and overseeing the business and financial
performance of the Group. Throughout the years of serving the Group,
Mr. Yeung led the Group to adopt a number of latest LED and projection
technologies for creative applications for pop concerts, such as Mesh LED
and transparent LED panels. Mr. Yeung has nearly 11 years of experience
in video equipment rental and services. Prior to founding the Group, Mr.
Yeung worked as a senior manager of I-MAG International Limited, a
company which is principally engaged in video equipment rental business
where he was responsible for customer accounts handling from April
2007 to May 2009. During the course of his promotion of video
equipment rental service for I-MAG International Limited to its customers,
Mr. Yeung acquired the relevant knowledge of the video equipment and
visual display industry. From July 1999 to March 2007, Mr. Yeung worked
in various companies and was responsible for sales of products and
customer services.

Mr. Yeung obtained a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree from Monash
University, Clayton Campus in Australia in May 1998.

Mr. Tam Chun Yu (FEfETF), aged 43, was appointed as an executive
Director on 10 November 2016. Mr. Tam joined the Group as an
operation manager in June 2009 and is primarily responsible for planning,
organising, coordinating and implementing visual display solutions of the
Group. Mr. Tam has over 15 years of experience in video equipment
rental and visual display solutions. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tam
worked as a technician of I-MAG International Limited from April 2007 to
June 2009 and Cosmo Pro AV Co. from February 2002 to February 2006.
Mr. Tam attended his secondary school education in Hong Kong from
September 1990 to August 1993.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Kai Sing (ZR&), aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 19 May 2017 and the chairperson of the audit
committee and a member of the remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company on 19 May 2017. Mr. Li has over
16 years of experience in accounting and finance matters. Mr. Li has been
an executive director of Focus Films Limited since September 2003. Mr. Li
was the Chief Financial Officer of Team Work Corporation Limited from
August 2000 to September 2003, the financial controller of China Star
Entertainment Limited (stock code: 0326) from June 1999 to July 2000,
an executive director of Interform Ceramics Technologies Limited (now
known as Alibaba Pictures Group Limited) (stock code: 1060) from
October 1995 to March 1999, and a vice president, finance of Leading
Spirit (Holdings) Company Limited (subsequently known as Leading Spirit
High-Tech (Holdings) Company Limited) (Hong Kong stock code: 0606)
from July 1992 to December 1993, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Li has been an independent non-executive director
of BExcellent Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1775), the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange, since June 2018.

Mr. Li was admitted as an associate of HKICPA in September 1988 and is
currently a member of HKICPA. He was also admitted as an associate of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (formerly known as
Chartered Association of Certified Accountants) in September 1988. Mr.
Li was also a certified financial planner as recognised by the Institute of
Financial Planners of Hong Kong in July 2004. Mr. Li obtained an
Executive Master of Business Administration from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in November 2007 and a Bachelor
of Social Science degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 1985.

Mr. Ma Tsz Chun (&), aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 19 May 2017 and the chairperson of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee and
nomination committee of the Company on 19 May 2017. Mr. Ma has
over 29 years of experience in accounting and finance matters. Mr. Ma
has been a director of Andrew & Associates CPA Limited since November
2014, a director of Sino-Bridge China Consulting Ltd since October 2004.
Mr. Ma has been an independent non-executive director of Chinese
Estates Holdings Limited (stock code: 0127) since November 2008 and
Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (stock code: 6063) since March 2020, the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Ma was admitted as an associate of HKICPA in September 1990 and
a certified public accountant (practicing) of that organisation in January
2001. He was also admitted initially as an associate in October 1990 and
subsequently as a fellow in November 1995 of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants (formerly known as Chartered
Associations of Certified Accountants).

Mr. Ma obtained a master’s degree of science in China business studies
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2009, a master’s
degree of science and a master’s degree of business administration both
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2003 and
December 1997 respectively, and a professional diploma in accountancy
in Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in November 1987.

Ms. Loh Lai Ping, Phillis (ZRE¥), aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 19 May 2017 and a member of
the audit committee and remuneration committee of the Company on 19
May 2017. Ms. Loh has accumulated extensive experience in the legal
field since 1988. From September 1988 to July 1993, she served as a
trainee solicitor initially and then a solicitor in Johnson Stokes & Master, a
law firm, where she was responsible for various legal matters including
litigation. Since January 1998, she has been a barrister in private practice
responsible for litigation work. Ms. Loh has been an independent non-
executive director of Chinese Estates Holdings Limited (stock code: 0127),
the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, since January 2006
and was an independent non-executive director of The Kwong Sang
Hong International Limited (Former stock code: 0189), the shares of
which were listed on the Stock Exchange for the period from April 2003
to February 2005.

Ms. Loh was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong
in September 1990 and a barrister of the High Court of Hong Kong in
January 1998. She was also admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of England and Wales in August 1991. She has also been a solicitor and a
barrister of the Supreme Court of Australian Capital Territory in Australia
since October 1991.

Ms. Loh was appointed as a member of the Board of Review (Inland
Revenue Ordinance) for a term of 3 years commencing 1 January 2018,
Deputy District Judge in the District Court of Hong Kong in June 2014
and January-February 2016, and Temporary Deputy Registrar in the High
Court of Hong Kong in July 2018.
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Ms. Loh obtained a degree of Bachelor of Laws and a Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong Kong in November 1987
and June 1988 respectively.

Senior Management

Ms. Ng Tsz Ning Loretta (:242#%), aged 48, is an accountant of the
Group. Ms. Ng joined the Group in June 2015 and is primarily responsible
for overseeing the day-to-day operation of financial activities of the
Group. Ms. Ng has over 24 years of experience in accounting and finance.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Ng was an accounting supervisor of ASB
Biodiesel (HK) Limited from March 2014 to June 2015, an accountant of
Team Success (Pacific) Limited from February 2012 to November 2013, an
accounting manager of Jiawei Solarchina Company Limited from April
2011 to September 2011, an assistant accounting manager of Saraya
Hong Kong Co. Ltd. from March 2010 to February 2011, an accounting
manager of New Ocean Technology Limited from March 2003 to
December 2009 and an accounting and administration manager of VK
Holdings (HK) Limited from February 2000 to February 2003.

Ms. Ng obtained a bachelor degree in accountancy from University of
South Australia by distance learning in April 2003.

Mr. Lau Kai Chu Kevin (2{£4¥), aged 47, is the internal audit manager
of the Group. Mr. Lau joined the Group in October 2016 and is primarily
responsible for company policy setting, performing internal audit, and
monitoring internal control of operation. Mr. Lau has over 21 years of
experience in accounting and internal audit. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Lau was a director of JR Corporate Services Limited from July 2013 to
September 2016. He also worked in CCT Telecom (HK) Limited from April
2012 to December 2012, last served as an internal audit manager. He
was also a regional manager, control and compliance of J.V. Fitness
Limited from October 2008 to October 2010 and an internal auditor of
Michel of HK from December 2006 to October 2008.

Mr. Lau was admitted as a certified internal auditor of the Institute of
Internal Auditors in May 2006. Mr. Lau obtained his bachelor’s degree of
commerce from University of Manitoba in Canada in May 1996.
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Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Mr. Xu Minghuan (fRBAM), aged 36, is the project supervisor of Shiji
Tiansheng Cultural Communication (Shenzhen) Limited (tt42 X &% X {b{&
BORYI)APRAR]). Mr. Xu joined the Group in February 2009 and is
primarily responsible for organising, coordinating and implementing visual
display solutions in PRC. Mr. Xu has over 10 years of experience in visual
display solutions and operating of visual equipment. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Xu served as a technical engineer at I-MAG International
Limited, a company which was principally engaged in the business of
video equipment rental, from May 2007 to June 2009, where he was
primarily responsible for coordinating and implementing visual display
solutions. From February 2004 to May 2007, Mr. Xu served as the
technical director at Black Leopard Performance Equipment Limited (%
REREEMR AT, a company which was principally engaged in the
business of production of lighting and LED and rental of equipment,
where he was primarily responsible for repair and installation of
equipment.

Mr. Xu received his vocational secondary education regarding electrical
and mechanical integration in Guangdong Mechanical & Electrical
Polytechnic (EHR & EE4%) in July 2003.

Mr. Pei Mingzhong (#£838), aged 37, is the deputy general manager
of Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng Technology Limited (YTt 40 KRR A
fR2A]). Mr. Pei joined the Group in June 2013 and is primarily
responsible for equipment development and maintenance. Mr. Pei has
over eight years of experience in visual equipment development. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Pei was a technical director of research and
development department of Shenzhen Zhongxiang Innovation
Optoelectronics Limited (FEYIFHFEIFTHEBRAF]) from December
2012 to June 2013 and a manager of research and development
department of Shenzhen Broad Horizon Optoelectronics Limited (&3IIA

BRF BRI B A R]) from August 2008 to December 2012.
Mr. Pei received his tertiary education in mechatronics from Jiangxi

Yuzhou Electronic Industrial College (TFEAINE T TZEFT) in July
2003.
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Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Company Secretary

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (R#), aged 55, was appointed as the Group's
company secretary on 10 November 2016. Ms. Leung has been a director
of K E Corporate Services Limited (a company secretarial services provider)
since April 2016, the managing director of K E Management &
Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since August 2015 and an independent
non-executive director of Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (Hong Kong
Stock Code: 6063) since March 2020. Ms. Leung was a director of KCS
Hong Kong Limited from August 2008 to October 2014 and an
independent non-executive director of Green leader Holdings Group
Limited (Hong Kong Stock Code: 0061) from April 2014 to January 2020.

Ms. Leung was admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (currently known as Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants) in the United Kingdom in July 1995. Ms. Leung
was also admitted as a fellow member of the CPA Australia in May 2004
and is currently a member of HKICPA. Ms. Leung obtained a master’s
degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales, Australia in
November 2002.

Some English names of Chinese laws and regulations, government
authorities, departments, entities, institutions, natural persons, facilities,
certificates, titles and the like for which no official English translation
exists have been unofficially translated for identification purposes only. In
the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese name will prevail.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B % B A

_n
pwc Rk E

To the Shareholders of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited HIn Technical Productions Holdings Limited % 5

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability) (RASHEEZMHE 2 BRI F])
Opinion =R
What we have audited RMPEBSHNAR

The consolidated financial statements of In Technical Productions  In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (JA T
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set MBI ER A REKM B A F (LA T4HEIE

out on pages 86 to 171, which comprise: SEDINHNELENT1 BB 4G B %W
xBE:
e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 May 2020; * R-Z-_TFHAA=+—-—HHE&EaH
BRI

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ® EEZHIEFENGEE2EKER
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ® BEEZRIETFENGEERZEEK
ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; * BEEZALFENGERETRER:
and K

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which includea ® AV BREWF  BREEESFTH
summary of significant accounting policies. KHE -
Our opinion EMHER

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair HFIR R ZEFHEETBEHREXEREE

view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 May B &2 AS(ATEHBIFE S A
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated & 1) 2846 E9<E B B B 8 H 2RI (JA T 5 18
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong KEEBHBHEEAD) EEMH 5k
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong T EBE&EBER T _ZFHA=+—HH
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been #EMBEMRARHEEBEZBIEFENLES
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the B XRBMGAR S RE S HEREB

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. CRRMERD B IR B R TE Z R -
PricewaterhouseCoopers FER R K A8 B R B BT
22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong BB T RE T
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888 M : +852 2289 8888 » fHE : +852 2810 9888
www.pwchk.com www.pwchk.com

76  In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements
which states that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$24,305,186 for the
year ended 31 May 2020, while its total revenue dropped from
HK$94,272,942 for the year ended 31 May 2019 to HK$44,714,984 for
the year ended 31 May 2020. The note discusses the impact of the
outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19"”) on the Group’s
business. The Group’s cash flow projections assume that there will be a
significant reduction of the Group’s business, with gradual resumption of
business from November 2020. While the cash flow projections assume a
gradual resumption of business from November 2020, this is uncertain
and is dependent on the subsequent development of the COVID-19
situation and the corresponding government measures in the regions
where the Group operates. These conditions, along with the other
matters explained in Note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined 4 -
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be

communicated in our report:

Key audit matters identified in our audit relate to estimated useful lives of
visual display equipment and the recoverability of trade receivables.

Key Audit Matter
HRESTER

FARFSER

FREFFTEERBERMANEXHE - R
REAMGAVBRENEARREER
MER ELERARERMBFBRES
BHEBEREBUEARBERETREN -
BT eHELEREHREBNER - K
HERFELLERBNERNTHEE MM SR
HPCEE N 8587 3R =R
EREBNBERESFTH:

ﬁﬁ&%%¢%%%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ$ﬂﬁﬁ@
,,,,, BIrARENGBATERFEFHLE S EER
EMT%@EE@

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNESNTEERREESNER

Estimated useful lives of visual display equipment:

BEBRIREBOMGETAIERFS

Refer to Note 2.6 in the summary of significant accounting
policies, Note 4(a) in the critical accounting estimates and
judgements and Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements for related disclosure.

FERAMTESABEBMENE26 BREFHALH
BT sT4@ MG A VSRR 140 EBEHEE -

As at 31 May 2020, the Group held visual display equipment
of approximately HK$84.0 million. For the year ended 31
May 2020, depreciation of approximately HK$19.6 million
for the visual display equipment was recognised under “cost
of services” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

RZEBEZZTFRAA=1T—H E5EEHFEEGETRR
H#H84.0E BB TT ° @If;fziﬂﬂ = [E =
FRE - REETXBERGE2ERBRIRBAR]H
ERRBFTEN196BEBT -
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Our procedures in relation to management’s estimated useful
lives of the visual display equipment included:

ZHAREEERAGEBENRENAERFRARHTH
RFE8HE:

—  We assessed the reasonableness of the useful lives
adopted by the Group by reviewing the historical usage
of the equipment, discussing with management and
making reference to, where available, independent
research report on durability, expected repairs and
maintenance and future demand of visual display
equipment;

— BMEREHNXBAREZRAE HEEBEETHIR
E2RUEB)EBERGETRREMBIL  FAHE
BEREERARETROBIARTRE  FhH &
SEMRAAERFHNSIEE

—  We tested on a sample basis, whether additions to
visual display equipment have been recorded in proper
categories for the calculation of depreciation; and

— HMHEAS ESEERAENERERCDBH
BEEGBRTRECERNBEEEN &



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
AREITER

B ZEA RS (58)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ERMWESNMEEERETSEHE

Depreciation of visual display equipment is calculated using
a straight-line method to allocate the cost over their
estimated useful lives of 8 years, except for the equipment
which are custom made for a particular project or event
and, their cost is depreciated over the duration of the
project or event.

BEBTREFENRBEREAE
RERRSENBER T D EAA
B B &R 8 BR S B bt AR AR
FE-

FEHFAA AR
BRERBIEEE
R IZITE B SO B BT

Management estimates useful lives of the visual display
equipment with reference to the durability, expected repairs
and maintenance and future demand of the equipment.

ERENK2ERBOMAGE BAHECREENR
ARFBR HABREBRTIREOAIEAFS -

Management also takes into account the industry practice
and expectation on technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from changes or improvements in the market
relevant to their business.
ERENTZRITEEMNRARLXBEAT Sk
ZEHRMEE AR TEE -

We focused on this area because the carrying amount of
visual display equipment is significant to the consolidated
financial statements and the determination of estimated
useful lives of visual display equipment, which has a direct
impact on the calculation of depreciation, requires the use
of significant judgements and estimates.

BMEZFEHEEERAAGEGRETIRENREEYSZS
MHRRkEEER BEETHINENGTE Tﬁﬁiﬁrm
ENREGBIRENGFIEREHHEAFEREKRH
BT X AfET o

—  We observed the Group’s physical count procedures on
visual display equipment and the physical condition of
the relevant assets to identify whether there is any
damaged or obsolete visual display equipment.

— gL ESERGBRTRENERERF
&*Hﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬁ’%ﬁﬁﬁ NBRREFEEMT
BBENRERTRE -

Based on the procedures described, we found the estimated
useful lives of the visual display equipment were supportable
by the available evidence.

EREPliRr  RMBERBEGETREBEOMBAAIEAF
HEAGZREERXFF-
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Key Audit Matter
BREETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ESNAEEFERENSE

Recoverability of trade receivables:

B 5 FEWCRIA RO AT g m 1

Refer to Note 2.10 in the summary of significant accounting
policies, Note 3.1(c) in financial risk management, Note 4(c)
in the critical accounting estimates and judgements and
Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements for related

disclosure.
FRAHEZESHBEMENT2.10 S RERKREEKH
F23.10) - AR EET R AHE R F4Q RERE T B HRE

B sE 16 B AR RE 1 55 -

As at 31 May 2020, the Group had gross trade receivables
of HK$15,471,911 (2019: HK$25,054,729), against which
allowance for impairment of HK$2,821,350 (2019: nil) were
recorded respectively.

F_g_gﬁﬂﬂ =+t—H E5EEESREWKKE
HBEI15471,91MN BT (ZF — AL EF : 25,054,729 7T ) -

E b UL AT IRR B B 152,821,350/ L (ZE— NF &) o
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Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment on
recoverability of trade receivables included:
BMERETHE S KT IR AT K@ LT ITEIR
FFedE:

— We understood, evaluated and validated the key
controls performed by management over the
impairment assessment process, including its
procedures on periodic review of aged receivables and
assessment on expected credit losses allowance of
receivables;

— BMTHE-
e 2 I
B RkEEKS

FEEZEEEBERENGEREE
BEREEEHNENGYEEFED
XIRFAHIEEBRBE NG

—  We tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of the trade
receivables ageing report;

— EMEEAREZRUGRIBRER RSN ERNL

— We evaluated management’s assessment of the
historical credit loss rates by sample checking inputs in
respect of the assumptions made, such as historical
payment records and subsequent settlement records;

and
— BMEAMEREMEBRNE ASE 6wk
ANFEEREELELS FEEEEBHALZ

EEBBRENNE: &



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
AREITER

8 L1 SR A ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ERMWESNMEEERETSEHE

The Group applied judgement and estimates to measure the
expected credit losses allowance. The trade receivables were
grouped based on similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking into
account the customers’ ageing category and historical
payment profiles. The expected credit loss rates were
determined based on historical default rates and were
adjusted to reflect current market conditions and forward-
looking information in the macroeconomic environment that
may affect the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.
EEEERHERGEARAERNEEBERE - &
SRWFERREAEERRAREEETHE  Lat Kk
BEFPHREER MBENRIBRE BTG KRERIED
At - EHEEERXDNRBEELENXEE I
EHABUARMER M RAKAIRETERT P &EEUR
BRINZERENAEEESR -

We focused on this area in view of the magnitude of the
trade receivables and the determination of the related
expected credit losses allowance involved the use of
judgement and estimation as described above.

HMBEIH T ERAARESRUFEBERAN BH
HEAEREEBERENET S KER 2 & A5 (10
ERTat) o

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

—  We evaluated the expected future changes in credit
risks in management’s assessment by sample checking
the inputs to the assumptions to external data sources.

— BMEBMERE KRR EE A SR EINEEUE
KR FEEBBFAENEERRNEHRRE
&) o

Based on our work, we found the judgement and estimations
adopted by management in respect of the recoverability of
trade receivables were supportable by the available evidence.
ERBMOIE RMBRELEERE S RURIBEN A
Yool ER AR ) I R b5t B RIS 2 BREBERHF °

H & #

BERREFAHHEMENAR - HiWEHR
BREFRANMAEEN BTEREAM
R MBI H AR RS
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

BMPUGEEVBRRNBRIL TREEA
Ef BTN AR EEMENEREM
MANERES -

BAERMEREYBHRERNET  BHMAN
AEERMEEMER  EHBRES  TEH
MEREDEGAMBRRIKMER
BEPATHROBAFEENEBREMU
FHEEERHERRANER -

EREMERTOHIH DREMIBS/E
MMERGFEERERRL HMAFTERS
SFE-EEIE RRBEFNSRSE -

L
it 4t
&
At
m

BERAEFEARERBEESMAEN
o KE B B 5 & EAD R EFB(R A&
POOREREREEEM TR B ES MBS
B AHERBRESEVBREROE
BIEEERRFRERMEBMNERE
REGLFTF R AR HI AR -

EREFRAMBEBRRE EFR AT
fh BERERELENREN LEERB
MATREEFBELEEHEANER UK
ERAFEKLRETER KRIEZAE
# EEEFRIELLE KR 25
PIEEMERNERTR -

REERABER

12 o

\



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
J8 N Rz BAD R ()

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, WM EESEIREBAMEIER - FH 1 E WL
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the auditof FEIHEH AH G AU BERERN BT KA E
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are Z EMEXKBERETZE - R EZH
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our EiR&E il iE L =EIE  BRIEERERT
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about A FHF AR B E L FIE K EZIKERH
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine thata FW T~ MR A B EHER MRS P EH
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse HEEZEEKXMNEBEREBEAELNARF
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the %5 B IR E P EERER B MZ A -
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent H E KRB ZSMBENBAEBEAEA

auditor’s report is Chu Wang Hay. EREE -
PricewaterhouseCoopers EOERKEEMERAT
Certified Public Accountants #HEZEED

Hong Kong, 27 August 2020 BAE ZE-TFNA=Z+LEH
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e EERER

For the year ended 31 May 2020 BZE_ZT_ZFHA=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 May
BEIA=Z+-BHLEFE

2020 2019
—E-EF = —=,42
Note HK$ HK$
k=3 BT o
Revenue Wz 6(a) 44,714,984 94,272,942
Cost of services Bk 7 X A< 8 (42,001,030) (48,134,623)
Gross profit E F 2,713,954 46,138,319
Other income Ha g A 6(b) 259,759 121,237
Other losses, net Hfth B )55 7 (139,359) (126,264)
Administrative expenses TR X 8 (29,174,501) (19,624,725)
Operating (loss)/profit e (B18),wF (26,340,147) 26,508,567
Finance income B 35 U A 10 211,088 583,286
Finance costs B 75 B 2R 10 (504,599) (542,457)
Finance (costs)/income, net B 7S (B AN), /WA F 58 10 (293,511) 40,829
(Loss)/profit before income tax Fri3%ian (B518), & 7 (26,633,658) 26,549,396
Income tax credit/(expense) FsfEe, (FAx) 11 2,328,472 (4,013,832)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (1), &7 (24,305,186) 22,535,564
Attributable to: AR AT HE(h -
— Owners of the Company —ARRHEEA (24,257,194) 22,484,660
— Non-controlling interests —IEERER (47,992) 50,904
(24,305,186) 22,535,564
Other comprehensive losses: Hv 2> mEEIE
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to HEMEEH D HEE
profit or loss Bz mIEH
— Exchange difference on translation of —HBMEBINEBD
foreign operations HEH =5 (57.269) (18,928)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year FE2E(EE) s
#HER (24,362,455) 22,516,636
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)

,\\?\/\’\EH& 5k (B8

For the year ended 31 May 2020 BE—Z-_TFAA=+—HIFE

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=+—HLFE

2020 2019
e g 3 —T-NF
Note HK$ HK$
Bt & BT T
Attributable to: LATR AL FELL -
— Owners of the Company —ARRHEAA (24,310,854) 22,468,276
— Non-controlling interests — RS 13 (51,601) 48,360
(24,362,455) 22,516,636
(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/profit FARARRRER AR
attributable to owners of the Company during (E18) &% e 5 &
the year (E18) B F|
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — HARREE (BL) 12 (3.03) 2.81

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be A 42 & 2 T Uk 25 2 JE B2 B& B Bt 5% — B 65
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.. =
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI &

Asat 31 May 2020 R=-ZE-_ZFRA=+—H

As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019
R-ZE-TF RZTE—NEF
EA=+—-HB HA=+—H
Note HK$ HK$
B & BT AT
Assets BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE&&RE 14 84,972,105 76,992,646
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 15 3,453,938 —
Prepayments and deposits ENREBERIZS 16 10,396,660 13,482,419
98,822,703 90,475,065
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables 2 5 e E 16 12,650,561 25,054,729
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FERHE RER
H fth j& W /I8 16 11,047,124 13,066,923
Pledged bank deposits BEEFIRITER 17 3,000,001 3,016,286
Cash and cash equivalents HERBEEEEY 17 4,547,631 28,838,810
31,245,317 69,976,748
Total assets BMEE 130,068,020 160,451,813
Equity Em
Capital and reserves attributable AATEE AEMN
to the owners of the Company BRARFE
Share capital A& 72X 18 8,000,000 8,000,000
Share premium R& 17 4w B 18 56,496,624 56,496,624
Other reserves H b & 1,304,854 1,358,514
Retained earnings RE AT 39,793,150 64,050,344
105,594,628 129,905,482
Non-controlling interests FERER 13 (293,992) (242,391)
Total equity EHHAE 105,300,636 129,663,091
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e BRI E(E)

Asat 31 May 2020 RZZE=TFHA=1+—H

As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019
R-ZE-EF RZZT—NEF
Note HK$ HK$
B o BT BT
Liabilities =K
Non-current liabilities kARBEE
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBEAE 24 5,367,504 7,588,721
Lease liabilities HEEE 15 1,332,232 —
6,699,736 7,588,721
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accrued liabilities HmENKELRESEE 21 10,033,337 9,336,471
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 2,276,959 —
Bank borrowings RITE R 22 3,592,488 6,741,606
Obligations under finance leases A& E AIE 20 —_ 41,344
Taxation payable & A5 B 18 2,164,864 7,080,580
18,067,648 23,200,001
Total liabilities F R =R 24,767,384 30,788,722
Total equity and liabilities ERREEEEH 130,068,020 160,451,813
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in LA | 43 & BF 78 Ak 5% 5% FE B2 BB [T BT 5% — £ B8
conjunction with the accompanying notes. & o

The consolidated financial statements on page 86 to 171 were approved
by the Board of Director on 27 August 2020 and were signed on its

behalf.

Yeung Ho Ting Dennis
BIEE
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 May 2020 BZE_ZT_ZFHA=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRHERAES
Share Share Capital Statutory Non-
capital  premium reserve  Exchange reserve  Retained controlling Total
(Note 18)  (Note 18) (Note 19(a)) reserve (Note 19(b))  earnings Total interests equity
BE  ROEE EXREE EERE
(Hr£18)  (MiEE18) (MiaE19(@) EHEFEE (WE19k) REEN @i FERERZ HZLH
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HKS HKS$ HK$

BT BT B BT BT BT BT BT BT

Balance at 1 June 2019 RZE-h%F
ANA—HH#&S 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 252,474 332,296 64,050,344 129,905,482 (242,391) 129,663,091

Loss for the year FERE - - ~ — — (2257,194) (24,257,194)  (47,992) (24,305,186)
Other comprehensive losses: £ fit 2 E 12 :
— Exchange difference —REENER
on translation of MERZHE
foreign operations - — - (53,660) - - (53,660) (3,609) (57,269)
Total comprehensive losses 2 & 124 — — —  (53,660) — (24.257,194) (24,310,854)  (51,601) (24,362,455)

Balance at 31 May 2020 RZE-FFHA
=+—HMEH 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 198,814 332,296 39,793,150 105,594,628 (293,992) 105,300,636

Balance at 1 June 2018 RZE-N\%F

NA—BH#s% 8,000,000 56,49,624 773,744 268,858 — 41,897,980 107,437,206 (290,751) 107,146,455
Profit for the year FERA = — — — — 22,484,660 22,484,660 50,904 22,535,564
Other comprehensive losses:  E ft 2 EE 12 :
— Exchange difference —HREBNES
on translation of MEXEE
foreign operations — — —  (16,384) = —  (16384) (2544)  (18928)

Total comprehensive (losses)/ 2 (&%), i A
income B = — = (16,384) — 22,484,660 22,468,276 48,360 22,516,636

Transaction with owners: BB AR F ¢
— Appropriation (Note 19(b) — % 3% (i 3£ 19(b)) - — — — 33229  (332,2%) — — =

Balance at 31 May 2019 RZZE-NERA
=+—-HH®#&% 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 252,474 332,296 64,050,344 129,905,482 (242,391) 129,663,091

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in LA & 45 & #E 25 & Bh 3% & B2 5 O B 5= — GF 35
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

=
g °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 May 2020 BIZ—Z_TFAA=+—HIFE

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=Z+-BHLEFE

2020 2019
—EC-EF —E-NEF
Note HK$ HK$
Bt & BT T
Cash flows from operating activities RETHFBRERE
Operating (loss)/profit e (E1e), a A (26,340,147) 26,508,567
Adjustments for: HTHNSEELFAE
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment ME BRERRGBITE 20,002,747 17,965,111
Depreciation for right-of-use assets FREEERE 2,982,210 —
Provision for impairment of trade receivables 2 5 EWRERERE 2,821,350 s
Operating (loss)/profit before working capital changes % & & & & &) fij ££ &
(& 1#8), & H (533,840) 44,473,678
Changes in working capital: EELE T :
Trade receivables 2 5 FE W IE 9,569,018 (16,445,463)
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FENFKIE Ze Rk
H A & WK IR (1,194,856) (9,138,411)
Contract liabilities GHEE — (5,654,688)
Other payables and accrued liabilities H Aty & A FRIE K
EEtRE 871,211 (1,664,958)
Cash generated from operations 4R FT RN & 8,711,533 11,570,158
Hong Kong profits tax paid BENEBREH (4,808,461) (213,013)
Net cash generated from operating activities KESEBFTSIR & F 58 3,903,072 11,357,145
Cash flows from investing activities RETZBHFREBRENRE
Interest received =R RSN 211,088 583,286
Decrease in term deposits with initial terms of over REBBEB=EAK
three months TE B TF SR — 20,700,000
Payment for acquisition of property, plant and WEME  BE &
equipment (Note a & b) = R (Bt s a K b) (21,885,156)  (22,016,285)
Repayment from the immediate holding company BEEZERARERK — 300,940
Net cash used in investing activities WEEBMARSFHE (21,674,068) (432,059)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

%W\fﬁi}ﬁéi‘%(%

For the year ended 31 May 2020 #HZE—

—TERAA=THILFE

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=Z+-HLEFE

2020 2019
—ECRF —E-NEF
Note HK$ HK$
Bt & BT T
Cash flows from financing activities REITBFRESRSRE
Repayment of bank borrowings (= ﬁthTﬂ E 27 (3,149,118) (4,256,166)
Payments of principal element of lease liabilities BEREaGELAHY 27 (2,832,941) —
Payments of interest element of lease liabilities BREASAEMNRMY 27 (198,038) —
Bank loan interest paid EFIRITERF A (306,561) (534,255)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits BEEFIRITER
B, (3 ) 16,285 (6,323)
Repayment of capital element of the finance leases  EEmMEHEARL D — (67,704)
Finance charges on obligations under finance leases gl & T & & &)
BMEBR — (8,202)
Net cash used in financing activities BB EETAIRS FEE (6,470,373) (4,872,650)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents IHE& NIBEEEY
CRL ), /18 00558 (24,241,369) 6,052,436
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes G FE [ R 2 B ) 2 & (49,810) (350,648)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FBReMRESEED 28,838,810 23,137,022
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRIBEMBESEBY 17 4,547,631 28,838,810
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

For the year ended 31 May 2020 HZE—

Major non-cash transactions include:

(a

During the years ended 31 May 2020 and 2019, the Group settled
balances amounting to HK$4,858,952 and HK$2,464,710,
respectively, for acquisition of certain visual display equipment with
deposits for equipment rental, which represented non-cash
transaction. For details, please refer to Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

During the year ended 31 May 2019, certain deposits for equipment
rental under current assets amounting to HK$5,029,283 were
reclassified as prepayments for purchase of equipment under non-
current assets, as these deposits will be used to settle part of the
considerations for acquisition of certain visual display equipment
pursuant to the related purchase agreements entered into by the
Group in March 2019. For details, please refer to Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

fﬁ :E mak (B
“EFERA=+—HILFE

1\\7.|—\

TEHRSRHBEHE:

(@)

REBEE-ZE-_ZFR_FT—ALFRA
=+—BLEFE AEBURELEE
REeHEBERBREETREETRIRELZ
4 £ 9 714,858,952 JT N 2,464,710
B W IIRERIERER S - B
B BREREVIEREME16-

RBEE_T—NLEREA=+—HLILF
B RBEEBETz2ETXELAR
£50292838B L N EF D EEIER
PEEH N ZBERERNRE R
AARBEASEER=_Z—NLF=A7]
VYHEBEER S ZEESBEAR
EEBEETHEBERXBZHZIA
BE-EBEFE FREGKAVB®mR
M5E16 ©

A E4RBR SN E R MEERE MMM E—

s
=

B B3

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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General information

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 November 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time. The address of its registered
office is Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1108 Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the provision of visual display solution services for concerts and
events primarily in Hong Kong, Macau, the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) and Taiwan (the “Business”). The Company’s
shares were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing”) on 14 June 2017.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated, and have been approved
for issue by 27 August 2020.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of the Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis

For the year ended 31 May 2020, the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$24,305,186, while its total revenue dropped from
HK$94,272,942 for the year ended 31 May 2019 to HK$44,714,984
for the year ended 31 May 2020. The Group maintained cash and
cash equivalents of HK$4,547,631 as at 31 May 2020.

Since early 2020, the Group’s business operations have been
adversely affected by the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease
("COVID-19"), after a hit of months of social unrest and protests in
Hong Kong. The outbreak of COVID-19 has resulted in significant
decrease in commercial activities under the lockdown and a series
of precautionary and control measures imposed in various cities
where the Group operates, such as ban on social gathering of more
than a limited headcount, execution of pandemic prevention
requirements and restrictions and controls over inbound and
outbound travelling. These have led to postponement and
cancellation of pop concerts and live events. If the present situation
continues and the control measures are prolonged, the Group’s
business and cash flows will be adversely affected.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast a significant doubt about the ability of the Group to
continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the Group's financial position and
performance, the liquidity requirements and its available sources of
financing to assess whether the Group will have sufficient resources
to fulfill its financial obligations. The Group has taken plans and
implemented measures to alleviate the liquidity pressure which
include, but not limited to, the following:

(i)  With the recent signs that the COVID-19 situation has been
easing in the PRC and Macau and the related control
measures imposed by the governments have been gradually
loosening, the directors of the Company have been closely
monitoring the development and preparing to resume its
visual display solution services in the PRC and Macau as soon
as permissible by the governments. The directors of the
Company have continuous discussion with its customers
about their plans to resume the pop concerts and live events,
and expect that the Group’s business will resume gradually
from November 2020.

2
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Notes to the Conso
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

As at 31 May 2020, the Group had outstanding gross trade
receivables of HK$15,471,911, among which HK$4,056,500
aged over 365 days. The Group has implemented measures to
accelerate the collection by issuing reminders and letters of
demand to its debtors, negotiating with the debtors on their
respective repayment schedules and, where possible, entering
into repayment agreements with them. In addition, as at 31
May 2020, the Group had deposits for equipment rental of
HK$8,631,337. The directors of the Group expect that the
deposits will be refunded according to the terms of the
equipment rental contracts upon their expiry and return of
the equipment.

In June 2020, the Group had obtained a new banking facility
of HK$3,540,000 under the SME Financing Guarantee
Scheme guaranteed by HKMC Insurance Limited. In addition,
the Group applied for an additional banking facility under the
SME Financing Guarantee Scheme (90% Guarantee Product)
in July 2020. Based on the latest communication with the
bank, the Group will be able to obtain an additional banking
facility of HK$4,000,000 in September 2020.

The Group has adopted a series of measures to control the
cash outflow by encouraging employees to take no-pay leave,
negotiating with suppliers to extend the payment due dates,
controlling capital expenditures, obtaining rent concessions
from the landlords and tightening expenditures.

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government
("HKSAR Government”) and the Macao Special Administrative
Region Government (“Macao SAR Government”) launched
several anti-epidemic funds as concessionary measures to
assist the affected businesses and the public. The Group
applied for the “Employment Support Scheme” (ESS)
launched by the HKSAR Government and subsidies for
business granted by the Macao SAR Government. As at the
date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the Group has obtained government subsidies amounted to
HK$520,903.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections which cover a period of not less than twelve months
from 31 May 2020. The directors are of the opinion that, having
taken into account the anticipated operating cash flows of the
Group as well as the possible changes in its operating performance,
the availability of existing and new bank facilities and the COVID-19
related subsidies obtained from governments, the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to meet its liabilities as and when they
fall due in the coming twelve months from 31 May 2020.
Accordingly, the directors consider that the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern and thus have prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainty exists as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above, which incorporate assumptions about future
events and conditions that are subject to inherent uncertainties.
Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
depends upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate operating
cash inflows through:

(i)  gradual resumption of business since November 2020 upon
the ease of the COVID-19 conditions and uplifting of relevant
controls and restrictions;

(i) successful and timely collection of trade receivables and
refund of deposits for equipment rental as scheduled;

(i) successful in obtaining the final approval and draw down of
the banking facilities as and when needed; and

(iv)  successful implementation of various cost saving measures
and control of capital expenditures.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above plans and
measures such that it would not be operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to reduce the carrying values
of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
financial liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 New standard, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards adopted by the Group

The following standard, amendments and interpretations to existing

standards have been adopted by the Group for the first time for the

financial year beginning on 1 June 2019:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK (IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

FEEHHREREME @

2.1 4 BE % (@)

128K ERMVIET 2R - BB %E

AMERT AR 2 e
AEEECERAUATR_F—NAERA
— BB REEEREMNE
Al - REEAERI AR BE:

EBVBERE BHE
AR 2516557
B8 (BBRUER FTEHEEDN

Treatments sREZEg) THEM
—R2EE235%
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative EBTBRE R A EIRAE R
Compensation B E 955 SE
CEHEN),
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or HE @A HZMEET - 4B
Settlement F195% (BT A) HIFE
Amendments to HKAS 28  Long-term Interests in Associates and e - o = NEERNTRE S
Joint Ventures F285 (5] A) hEZEHER
HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs EBBHE E B 7R R & XA
2015-2017 Cycle EHI(BFIAR) ZZE—RAFEZ
T-EFERF
[E

The Group has been impacted by HKFRS 16 in relation to the
accounting treatment of leases. Details of the changes in
accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2.2. The adoption of other
amendments and interpretation listed above did not have material
impact on the Group’s accounting policies and consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e IR M 5 (B8

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FEEHBEHME@
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 B EE @)
2.1.3 New standard and amendments to existing standards 213 EMHEERERBE S RIERE
that have been issued but are not yet effective and have MEIETET ZE B R I A E AT K

not been early adopted

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
RTFBHRH2
#BEBRH
FEHEEN
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
ERMBREERE TR RBREH —T-=%—A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business 1 January 2020
BRI BHEEREIR (BFTX) EBHNTER —T-TF—HA—H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor To be determined
and its Associate or Joint Venture
BRI HREENFE10% R REEHEABMEKGENAZHNEELESR T E B
BB G ERIE 285 (BFIA)
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020
BRI BHREERNF 165 (BT X) CoVID-1918ET & E % —T_ZTFXA—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material 1 January 2020
ERGHEAE IR BAUNTER —TZTF-H—H
BB G ERAEH (BFTX)
Amendments to HKAS 39, Hedge accounting 1 January 2020
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9
BB G ERIE395 Hihgat —_T_ZTF—H—H
EREMBREERETHRR
EEMBREEREIF (BFTX)
Conceptual Framework for Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 1 January 2020
Financial Reporting 2018
T N\FHBRERER RIETHBRERIER —ET-ZF—-HA—H
The Group has not early adopted the above new standard and AEBWEIRESHA Lt #HER K&
amendments and is in the process of assessing the impact of those A RIBIFS(haz S ER REE
new standard and amendments on the Group’s accounting policies REAREBECHHERGESMBRE
and consolidated financial statements. H £ o
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 “Leases”
on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 retrospectively from 1 June 2019
but has not restated comparatives for the year ended 31 May 2019,
as permitted under the simplified transition provisions in the
standard. The reclassifications and adjustments arising from the
new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the opening
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 June 2019. The
new accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2.14.

For leases previously classified as finance leases the Group
recognised the carrying amount of the lease asset and lease liability
immediately before transition as the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset and the leases liability at the date of initial application.
The measurement principles of HKFRS 16 are only applied after that
date. The remeasurements to the lease liabilities were recognised as
adjustments to the related right-of-use assets immediately after the
date of initial application.

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from
HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify leases as either operating
or finance leases using similar principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore,
HKFRS 16 did not have any financial impact on leases where the
Group is the lessor.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

iR e B IS R T AT ()

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FEESHBEHE@
(Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 ST EHENEE @)
(@) Measurement of lease liabilities () HEBGEZFZ2
On 1 June 2019, the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation to RZE—NFAA—H KEEFHL
leases which had previously been classified as “operating leases” BEESES £ E 175 HE |8
under the principles of HKAS 17 “Leases”. These liabilities were FRSBEA&LHAE | WAER2ZA
measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, EAE-ZZAERIANGHEENKDY
discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 HEsE WERBABAAR - —N
June 2019. The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing EFRNA—BHiEEES T,;\ | = o 17 37
rate applied to the lease liabilities as at 1 June 2019 was 5.10%. B —NhEFE~A—BNHEE

BEERANMET AR AREES
A& AE510% °

HK$
AT
Operating lease commitments disclosed RZZE-NFRA=T—BEEZ
as at 31 May 2019 ARG AE 4,107,360
Less: Short-term leases with remaining lease & : B35 & 76 B 75 37 &5 Y Bl 55 1655/ 21 69 1] 17 4
terms of less than 12 months as at 1 June BAARESEERRARAI IR =2 —N
2019 recognised on a straight-line basis as FARA—BHRBHEBLIR @A 2 EHA
expenses pursuant to a practical expedient =3
permitted by HKFRS 16 (1,577,012)
Add: Adjustments as a result of different m EAOHEEHRASH(RERILEEERED
treatment of contractual and expected lease TR BRIE 77 0% M /B b A 38 28
periods including termination options 2,191,720
Add: Finance lease liability recognised MR- NAFREA=+—HBERZHENRE
as at 31 May 2019 =R 41,344
4,763,412
Lease liabilities discounted using the lessee’'s  E AR ARV ERBSH(ZZE—NAFENA—
incremental borrowing rate at the date of BWEEERMNENENEEAR
initial recognition, 1 June 2019 4,497,779
Of which are: He -
Current lease liabilities MEEEAE 2,811,849
Non-current lease liabilities FEmBEEAE 1,685,930
4,497,779
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) Measurement of right-of-use assets

The associated right-of-use assets were measured at the amount
equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 May 2019.
There were no onerous lease contracts that would have required an
adjustment to the right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application.

The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets by class of underlying
asset are as below:

2

FEEHHREREME @

22 S ERERNEH @

(b) EHEEEZREIE
HEACAEEERSFRARNEERR
MEBAE ABRR_F—-NFAHA
=T - HENSREMBARARTERN
& A8 B B0 (E I TR A 3 B AT A & 5K
CHRELAE ABETAEFTERD
MERBERHEREEEFLAEN
BEHEAD -

RAMEERRE DNERREED
BREEWT :

31 May 1 June

2020 2019

—¥-%F —FNF

FA=+—H NHA—H

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

Premises LYIES 3,434,898 4,456,435
Office equipment WAZERME 19,040 35,360
3,453,938 4,491,795

(c) Practical expedients applied
In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used the
following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

. the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
reasonably similar characteristics; and

o the accounting for operating leases with remaining lease
terms of less than 12 months as at 1 June 2019 as short-term
leases.

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether a contract is, or
contains a lease at the date of initial application. Instead, for
contracts entered into before the transition date, the Group relied
on its assessment made applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Adjustments recognised on adoption of HKFRS 16

The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 June 2019:

o right-of-use assets — increased by approximately
HK$4,492,000;

o property, plant and equipment — decreased by approximately
HK$35,000;

o lease liabilities — increased by approximately HK$4,498,000;
and

o obligations under finance leases — decreased by
approximately HK$41,000.

The change in accounting policy does not have any impact on the
retained earnings of the Group as at 1 June 2019.

2.3 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.3 Consolidation (Continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Profits and
losses resulting from inter-company transactions that are recognised
in assets are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a
loss of control are accounted for as equity transaction-that is, as
transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as
owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposal to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are
shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of financial position respectively.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment in
subsidiary is accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost also
includes direct attributable costs of investment. The result of
subsidiary is accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR ()

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s presentation
currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in profit or loss.

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of
which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

— income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on
the dates of the transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company who make strategic decisions.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed in profit or
loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:

8 years or over the duration of
the event, where appropriate

4 years

3 -5 years

Over the lease term

Visual display equipment

Furniture and other equipment
Motor vehicles
Leasehold improvements

Visual display equipment is depreciated over a useful life of eight
years, except for those equipment which are custom made for a
particular project or event. Such equipment is depreciated over the
duration of the project or event.

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds
with the carrying amount. These are included in other losses, net in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each year end
date.

2.8 Financial assets

2.8.1 Classifications
The Group classifies its financial assets at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

2.8.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

2.8.2 Recognition and measurement (Continued)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely
payment of principal and interest.

2.8.3 Impairment of financial assets

The Group's financial assets measured at amortised cost are subject
to HKFRS 9’s expected credit loss model. The Group assesses on a
forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its
assets carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk. Note 3.1(c) sets out the details on how the Group
determines whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of trade receivables. The
provision matrix is determined based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of trade receivables with similar credit
risk characteristics and is adjusted for current market conditions and
forward-looking estimates. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the current
market conditions and forward-looking estimates are analysed.

For deposits and other receivables, the Group measures the
impairment as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit losses, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a
significant increase in credit risk of the other receivables has
occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit losses.

2.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.10 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services
performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and other receivables is expected in one year or less, they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less allowance for impairment.

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, cash at banks and other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less.

2.12 Payables

Payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

2.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that
an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.13 Provisions (Continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.14 Leases

As explained in Note 2.2 above, the Group has changed its
accounting policy for leases where the Group is the lessee. The new
policy is described below and the impact of the change in Note 2.2.

Until 31 May 2019, leases of property, plant and equipment where
the Group, as lessee, had substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership were classified as finance leases (Note 20). Finance leases
were capitalized at the lease’s commencement at the fair value of
the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum
lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations,
net of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables.
The interest element of the finance cost is recognised in profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is
depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the
lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will
obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership were not transferred to the Group as lessee were
classified as operating leases (Note 28(b)). Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor)
were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

From 1 June 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less
any lease incentives receivable; and

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar
terms and conditions.

Lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received,;

o any initial direct costs; and
° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit
or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.15 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
twelve months after the year end date.

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which
they are incurred.

2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the year comprises current and
deferred income tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the year end date in the
countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the year end date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases
of investments in foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.17 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable for the sale of services in the ordinary course of the
Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of discounts, value-added
tax and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when or as the control of the
services is transferred to the customers. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
services may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of the
services is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

(i) provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer; or

(i)  creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

(i)  does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the services transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the services.

The Group does not have any contracts where the period between
the transfer of the promised services to the customers and the
payment by the customer exceeds one year. Therefore, the Group
does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of
money.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group incurs costs to fulfill contracts in providing visual display
solution services. If these costs do not fall within the scope of
relevant standards other than HKFRS 15, the Group may capitalise
these fulfillment costs as deferred costs in the Group'’s consolidated
statement of financial position if they meet all of the following
criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or an anticipated
contract that the Group can specifically identify;

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

If capitalised, these deferred costs are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which the revenue that they relate is recognised. The Group has
applied the practical expedient of directly recognising these
fulfillment costs as expenses when incurred since the amortisation
period of the assets that the Group otherwise would have
recognised will be less than one year.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange
for services that the Group has transferred to a customer.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers the promised services to the customer, the Group presents
the contract as a contract liability when the payment is received or
a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is
the Group’s obligation to transfer the promised services to a
customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional right
to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities as described below:

(i) Revenue from visual display solution services

Revenue from visual display solution services is recognised over the
show or event period of a project as customers have simultaneously
received and consumed the benefits provided by the Group's
services. Revenue are recognised using the output method by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation, which is directly measured by the value of
each show or event being performed.

(i) Equipment rental income

Equipment rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.

2.19 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the
effective interest method.

2.20 Handling income

Handling income is recognised when the services are performed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.21 Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services rendered by the employees
up to the year end date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based
on performance and taking into consideration the profit or loss
attributable to the Company's shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.

(iii) Pension obligation

The Group participates in various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans which are available to all relevant employees. These
plans are generally funded through payments to schemes
established by governments or trustee administered funds. A
defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group
pays contributions on mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis into
a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee
services in the current and prior periods. The Group’s contributions
to the defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred.
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Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, foreign exchange
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

(a)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group does not have any interest-bearing financial
assets or liabilities except for pledged bank deposits,
cash at banks, and bank borrowings, at floating rate,
details of which are disclosed in Note 17 and 22 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively. The
Group's cash at banks and pledged bank deposits earn
interest at low interest rate, which are not significant.
Hence, bank borrowings, at floating rate, are what
exposed the Group to cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk.

At 31 May 2020 and 2019, if the interest rates on these
loans had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the Group's finance costs
would have been approximately HK$17,962 and
HK$33,708, respectively, higher/lower.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(0

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to United
States dollars (“US$”), Macau Patacas (“MOP”) and
Renminbi (“RMB"). Foreign exchange risk arises when
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
group entities’ functional currency.

In the opinion of the directors, US$ is reasonably stable
with HK$ under the Linked Exchange Rate System, and
accordingly, the Group considers the foreign exchange
risk is low and no sensitivity analysis is performed
relative to the US$.

At 31 May 2020 and 2019, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against HK$ with all other variables
held constant, loss (2019: profit) for the years ended 31
May 2020 and 2019 would have been approximately
HK$216,005 lower/higher (2019: HK$234,938 higher/
lower), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains on
translation of payables denominated in RMB.

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash at banks, pledged bank
deposits, trade receivables and deposits and other
receivables included in the consolidated statement of
financial position represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR (B

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 REARERE@®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 ©REREREE@®
() Credit risk (Continued) (0 f=ERB:(E)

120

The Group has two types of financial assets that are
subject to the expected credit loss models:

. Trade receivables; and

° Other financial assets carried at amortised cost.

rEBEMBCMEER
BTEEEEBERER
e BIEWHIE: &

s REBHNKAFEMH

fth & @ & 2 o
Trade receivables B Z e E
Trade receivables of the Group represent amounts due NEEFBHNE SEKRREAS

from reputable companies in the entertainment
industry. The Group has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The Group
measures the expected credit losses on a combination
of both individual and collective basis.

EUMRETEREEBRYY
RAIMKE - AEE DR
—EFEEBRRYLEERE
ERBETHEERR -

rEBRERRABEMBERSE
ERFIOWRZ BT A E
BHREERR RAMEAES
EURFEERZHERE
BRE - RAERMEES
1B BEZRWFBAEREH]
Rl = & [ B 45 8 & 8 R K
2 V\H $%I?EQ1I%U&

HAEEFEBEHEEE
o

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual basis LR EEFEBEHEE
Ei 18

Trade receivables with known insolvencies are assessed CHENDEENE HEIWK

individually for impairment allowances and are written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor
to make contractual payments. As at 31 May 2020, no
impairment provision has been provided for individually
assessed receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(0

Credit risk (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis

Expected credit losses are also estimated by grouping
the remaining receivables based on similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assessed for likelihood of
recovery, taking into account the customers’ ageing
category and historical payment profiles, and applying
the expected credit loss rates to the respective gross
carrying amounts of the receivables.

The expected credit loss rates were determined based
on historical default rates and were adjusted to the

=17
N

B 7% R 2k B 5 (A8)

3 %mﬂﬂpﬁafi(,ﬁ

3.1 ©@EEREZE@®
(O EERRKE)

BHAREETFEBEYEE
BB
EHEEBEETEBARE
HEUE B BB R B R &

JE%ZTAIEZE«T ol
it AR B KRE A
Rl EREZEREPHE
BRERI RESL BN - I
REHEEBERXEARAR
W R IR R AR E 4B (8 -

BHEERRXTIRERE
LEDEREE  XRBEER

effects of current market conditions as well as forward- R H & % - A=
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting & pE i 2k IE 48 ) B R BB AR
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. i A &= E’] B EJ% % &R E
o
The following table presents the gross carrying amount TRIIWANR —ZZE_ZEFH
and the provision for impairment in respect of A=+—BHAIFE S
collectively assessed trade receivables as at 31 May FEUWR TR 2R E R
2020 (2019: nil): BEHE(ZCE—HhE  &):
Expected Gross Impairment
credit loss carrying loss
rate amount allowance
BHEE B
BiE =R BERHEE EiERE
HK$ HK$
BT P TT
As at 31 May 2020 R-ZBE-ZFHF
TA=1CH
Current (not yet due) BIHA (&) A 280 HA) 0% 192,410 —
1 —90 days past due #HAI1 Z= 90K 4% 6,265,000 250,600
91 — 180 days past due BEI91I = 180K 15% 3,818,001 572,700
181 — 365 days past due #HA181 &= 365K 30% 3,001,000 900,300
1 to 2 years past due WA E2F 50% 2,195,500 1,097,750
17% 15,471,911 2,821,350
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(0

Credit risk (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis
(Continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
“provision for impairment of trade receivables” within
operating (loss)/profit. When a receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account for receivables. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group's other financial assets carried at amortised
cost include cash and cash equivalents, deposits and
other receivables in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The impairment loss of other financial
assets carried at amortised cost is measured based on
the 12-month expected credit loss. The 12-month
expected credit loss is the portion of lifetime expected
credit loss that results from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within twelve months after
the reporting date. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime expected credit
loss.

Management considered the credit risk of deposits and
other receivables as low as the counterparties have the
capacity to meet their contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term.

The majority of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
and pledged bank deposits are deposited in major
financial institutions located in Hong Kong, Macau and
the PRC, which are of high credit rating. Management
does not expect any losses arising from non-
performance by these financial institutions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(0

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits are placed
with various landlords in Hong Kong, Macau and the
PRC, and are due to refund upon the expiry of the
tenancy agreement and handover of the leased
premises. The Group has not experienced any defaults
by the landlords.

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits for
equipment are placed with various reputable companies
in Hong Kong and the PRC, and are due to refund upon
the termination of equipment rental contracts and
return of the lease visual display equipment. The Group
has not experienced any defaults by the counterparties.

Therefore, the Group has assessed that the expected
credit losses for these financial assets carried at
amortised costs were close to zero under 12-month
expected losses method, and therefore no provision was
recognised.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities. The Group’s primary cash requirements
have been for additions of machinery and equipment,
and payment for purchases and operating expenses.
The Group mainly finances its working capital
requirements through internal resources and bank
borrowings.

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents considered adequate by the directors
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The directors
monitor the utilisation of bank borrowings to ensure
adequate unutilised banking facilities and compliance
with loan covenants.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e I HRERNEE(8)

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 REARERE@®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 £ElEEE @
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) R"EBELER(E)
The table below analyses the Group'’s financial liabilities TXBREBEFELEBRES
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining MR EA A B R T HARS - iR
period at the year end date to the contractual maturity EENESRBES N AME
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the AR HH R o N R FTHEE
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due MEREIESY KRR S
within twelve months equal their carrying balances as o HAREIREELIKAN W
the impact of discounting is not significant. R+—E A RNE E M4

FREMKEE -

Within
1year/ Between Between
repayable 1and 2 2 and 5

on demand years years Total
16,/
RERHEE 1224 2855 et
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
At 31 May 2020 R-ZIEBE-EHF
FA=+—H
Other payables and accrued = &g < 7018 &
liabilities fEztBE 10,033,337 — — 10,033,337
Bank borrowings (Note) #8178 5% (B 5%) 3,592,488 — — 3,592,488
Lease liabilities HERE 2,349,060 1,104,445 340,032 3,793,537
15,974,885 1,104,445 340,032 17,419,362
At 31 May 2019 R=-ZT—hF
EFRA=+—AH
Other payables and accrued X fib fi& {< 7% 38 K&
liabilities EstEaE 9,336,471 — — 9,336,471
Bank borrowings (Note) SR 1718 FR (P 7%) 6,741,606 — — 6,741,606
Obligations under finance gt & i & & &
leases (Note) (Bt sE) 41,344 — — 41,344
16,119,421 — — 16,119,421
Note: The maturity analysis of the bank borrowings and obligations MieE: RITERRMEHERENI LM HZ
under finance leases is disclosed with reference to the agreed 2 18 A 175 % 9 BT /O 155 5 B ARG T B A8 5
repayment schedules as set out in the relevant agreements, RIRBESKBRME & T AKEE -

taking into account the clause of repayable on demand.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire M maR M ()

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 REARERE@®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 R AEREE @
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) R"EBELEB(E)
Without taking into account the clause of repayable on M 4 =t & 15 2 SRk & R
demand, the maturity analysis of the bank borrowings N SRITE R KR A S &
and obligations under finance leases are analysed as ERRBOoM I TWT
follows:
Within
1 year/ Between Between
repayable 1and 2 2and5
on demand years years Total
1R/
RERMEE 1225 2B5%F et
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
75 JT 75 TT BT T
At 31 May 2020 RZZE_FTF
HAA=+—H 2,594,059 1,153,678 — 3,747,737
At 31 May 2019 RZT—hF
AFA=+—H 3,499,192 2,597,275 1,155,189 7,251,656
3.2 Capital Management 32 EXER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to AREFESTEBEEANEEARERN
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern SERELENRN AR
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for HIRMEI R WA H AR AR
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital ERRMF S LGS EEENERE
structure to reduce the cost of capital. AR R B 2R B AN o
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group BEE N ABREARER AEFH
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, AAEEREREMNNEES%E
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets AEEREEEN - BTHEKLE
to reduce debt. EEENRDER -
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital Management (Continued)

The capital structure of the Group consists of shareholders’
equity and total borrowings. Capital is managed so as to
maximise the return to shareholders while maintaining a
capital base to allow the Group to operate effectively in the
marketplace and sustain future development of the business.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including “obligations
under finance leases”, “lease liabilities” and “bank
borrowings” as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position) less cash and bank balances (including
“pledged bank deposits” and “cash and cash equivalents”).
Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt.

As at 31 May 2020 and 2019, the gearing ratio is not
applicable due to net cash position.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade and
other receivables and payables are a reasonable approximation
of their fair value. The fair value of financial liabilities for
disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that
is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

(a) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives, and
related depreciation charge for its property, plant and
equipment. The estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions, the durability, the
expected repairs and maintenance and the future demand of
equipment. Management will increase the depreciation
charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
useful lives. It will write off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and therefore affect the depreciation charge in future periods.

ARe IS AR BT AT ()

4 BARSFHEETRHE

AEBRRERELGBHREBR A
Ve AR RAEEERIGHAER
HBRER - BERET - VMREFEEE
REEEREEELIERABRNEKRR
BRAEEr RREFTHMOT

(@) ME- - BERRBHAE
F & 1

EEEETEDE BELEERE
MAGAERAFAREETES
Bemat DERBREUEE R
DEEMME  BERZRENER
AEREH MAM - EHEE
REEBRARRERLERNB
EEBmMIEL - ERERNA L
REMBBEMFTOAIERFBH
FERIEMTEEM - AR MK
OB, 2 ¥ RE K h E R R ER B 3
FRBEUEEE -BERKBEFHA
REEGEAERFHAR - EH
EHSENTEFHLAZY I
AUFERRMENFTEER -

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z=Z& &3 127



128

4R A

N

B 75 R 3% BT+ (A8)

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

(c)

Non-financial assets including property, plant and equipment
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to
sell. These calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has
occurred that may indicate that the related asset value may
not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher of
fair value less costs to sell and net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued
use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present value
used in the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s
financial condition and results of operations.

If there is a significant adverse change in the projected
performance and the resulting future cash flow projections, it
may be necessary to take an impairment charge to profit or
loss.

Impairment of receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables based on an
assessment of the expected credit losses of these receivables.
The assessment is based on the historical loss experience,
adjusted to reflect the effects of current market conditions
and forward-looking information, which requires the use of
judgements and estimates. Management reassesses the
provision at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR ()

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 4 B &< 545 & # & @)

(Continued)

(d) Current and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. The Group recognises liabilities or
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. When the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition
of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in the
period in which such estimate is changed.

Segment information

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that are
used to make strategic decisions. These reports are prepared on the
same basis as these consolidated financial statements.

The chief operating decision-maker is identified as the executive
directors of the Company. The executive directors review the
Group’s consolidated financial statements mainly from a single
business perspective as the Group is mainly engaged in the
provision of visual display solution services.

During the years ended 31 May 2020 and 2019, all of the Group’s
revenue was from contracts with customers and was recognised
over time.
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(Continued)
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5 Segment information (Continued) 5 SSFER @
The Group’s revenue is attributable to the following geographical ANEBRKZIKE A THIE TS :
markets:
Year ended 31 May
BEZAA=t-HLHFE
2020 2019
—BRCEHE —E-NF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Hong Kong B 17,326,598 30,964,832
PRC F 14,484,956 36,091,581
Macau SRS 12,023,430 21,004,450
Taiwan B & 495,000 3,264,788
Others H A 385,000 2,947,291
44,714,984 94,272,942
The Group’s total non-current assets were located in the following REBII RS EEREREANEFHE
regions based on the countries/place of domicile of the companies TRARIFMEBRR NEMNR TS :
comprising the Group:
As at As at

31 May 2020 31 May 2019
R-ZB-EF R-ZT—ILF
AFA=+—H HAA=+—H

HK$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current assets: ERBNE EE
Hong Kong E B 89,879,021 85,141,605
PRC ==l 7,165,591 4,626,146
Macau B P 1,778,091 707,314

98,822,703 90,475,065
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ire Mg maR M EE (8

5 Segment information (Continued) 5 2EH @
For the year ended 31 May 2020, there were 2 customers (2019: 4 HEzE-_ZTE_ZTFH )51 S el ==
customers) who individually contributed over 10% of the Group’s B B2Z2BF(ZE—hFE 48 %
total revenue. Revenue contributed from each of these customers is FP)DRIEEB T A& ;,’% EE N0k )
as follows: 10% - ZEBFEAZAEMBENT :

Year ended 31 May
BELIA=+—-BLFE

2020 2019

—2-%2F T NF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Customer | EFI 12,897,379 15,691,300
Customer |l BRI 4,802,000 11,962,500
Customer Il (Note) EE (K ) N/A TiEF 27,428,386
Customer IV (Note) BEE IV (H &) N/A T8 F 10,510,000
17,699,379 65,592,186

Note: Revenue from Customer Il and Customer IV did not exceed 10% of total HsE - REBEE-—ZE-—EFRBE=+—HI&
revenue during the year ended 31 May 2020. ERRdE gﬁ NEEEIVE WSR2

U EEEI10% ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e I HRERNEE(8)

6 Revenue and other income 6 WHEkHEMWA
(a) Revenue (a) W=

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=+t-HLEFE

2020 2019

—E-%F —ZT-AF

HK$ HK$

BT o

Revenue from visual display solution services 18 15 %8 7= fif yR 75 2 AR 76 Uk 25 44,403,026 93,804,602
Equipment rental income REHEERA 311,958 468,340
44,714,984 94,272,942

(b) Other income (b) Hazug A

Year ended 31 May
BELA=+—HLEFE

2020 2019
—F-%FF ZFNF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Handling income FEEWA 259,759 121,237
7 Other losses, net 7 HMEEFEHE

Year ended 31 May
BELIA=+—-HLEFE

2020 2019

—B-%F T NF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Exchange losses, net E W 18558 139,359 126,264
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ire Mg maR M EE (8

8 BRMEHIHINEX

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

8 Expenses by nature

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E—NF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B Em = B 1,227,184 1,274,272
Consultancy and technician fees AR E 209,718 770,000
Cost of equipment and spare parts R AE KB 1 AR 475,917 1,147,654
Depreciation of property, plant and ME  WEREETE
equipment (Note 14) (FF=E14) 20,002,747 17,965,111
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15)  {# P& E 47 & (M 5£15) 2,982,210 -
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) E @R (ME9) 19,033,326 20,231,919
Rental expenses of short-term leases in respect 4 B 70 F8 47 3 & 3% &5 < 2 HA
of rental premises and equipment (Note 15) & > £ B (M 3£15) 2,159,715 —
Equipment rental charges REHEER — 3,593,806
Operating lease rentals in respect of rental HRAMENKELEHERS
premises — 3,483,099
Freight and logistics expenses BELRYRE 3,451,576 4,986,167
Legal and professional expenses FENEXEER 1,584,593 2,252,350
Provision for impairment of trade receivables 2 5 & U FX I8 )i (B %
(Note 16(a)) (Mt 16(a)) 2,821,350 —
Professional service fees in respect of transfer B EHEER FHH
listing preparation HERKE 7,167,000 —
Subcontracting charges DB 3,272,786 5,778,780
Travelling expenses =ZIRE 1,616,992 792,481
Others Hib 5,170,417 5,483,709
Total cost of services and administrative PR 75 pX AN R 17 B B % 42 B8
expenses 71,175,531 67,759,348
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ire s maR M EE (8

9 EE®AFAEX

9 Employee benefit expenses

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

134

2020 2019
—E_EHF —E—NF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Wages, salaries and allowances, excluding IE H4ekER

directors’ emoluments (TBEIEZEFEHM) 14,842,550 15,842,680
Directors’ emoluments (Note 34) BB (M sE34) 2,778,074 2,913,126

Pension costs — contributions to defined BRREBR — AR EHRGE
contribution plans (Note) HEER (T EE) 1,412,702 1,476,113
19,033,326 20,231,919

Note: 5T -

The Group has arranged for its employees to join the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, In Technical Productions Limited (the
employer) and its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 5%
of the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.
The monthly contributions of each of the employer and the employees are subject to a
maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per month and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. The Group has no further obligations for post-retirement benefits beyond
the contributions.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes to state-
administered retirement plans for employees in the PRC. For the PRC, the employees
contribute up to 10% of their basic salaries, while the Group contributes approximately
19% to 24% (2019: 24% to 26%) of such salaries. The Group has no further
obligations for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
these contributions. The state-administrated retirement plans are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

There are no forfeited contributions to defined contribution plans for the years ended
31 May 2020 and 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

9 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

(a) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year ended 31 May 2020 include two
directors (2019: two directors). The emoluments paid/payable
to the five highest paid individuals are as follows:

%= A

NN

A M ERR M oL ()

9 EER/ABEXu@m

() EEESHMAL

AEBRBE-_Z=-_ZTFHA
= t+—HBLEFENREER
AL (BEMEBEEE(ZE— A1
F - MBESR)) B EHR
HZEESHWALTOB I T

BX (=) 367

Year ended 31 May
BELIA=+—-BLFE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —EF-NF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, other allowances and benefits Ha - HEMER REF 4,120,415 4,000,416
Pension costs — contributions to defined BRESERA—MAREEHK
contribution plans st &I 5K 92,136 90,000
4,212,551 4,090,416
The emoluments fell within the following bands: [ A =

Number of individuals
EEAZ
Year ended 31 May
BERA=+—HLEFE

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF

Emolument bands B < &6 [E
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 = % 1,000,000/ 7T 4 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T & 1,500,000/% 7T — 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T & 2,000,000/% 7T 1 -
5 5
During the years ended 31 May 2020 and 2019, no REE-"ZE-—EERK -—FT—HE
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors EA=+—BItEE ¢E B 1
or other members of the five highest paid individuals as an BAOEMESKALRS A

inducement to join, upon joining the Group, leaving the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

THHMEMKBEXNME  (ER
W EMAKRER  MAXREH
B BRASENRBRIELRE
Brh(E
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ire W R M AT ()

10 Finance (costs)/income, net

10 B (RAR) WAFEEHE

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NF

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

Bank interest income RITF B YA 211,088 583,286

Interest on bank borrowings HITE IR (306,561) (534,255)

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE (198,038) =
Finance charges on obligations under MEHEAENREE R

finance leases — (8,202)

Finance costs B 75 AR 2R (504,599) (542,457)

Finance (costs)/income, net B (R AN )W ASE 58 (293,511) 40,829
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Income tax credit/(expense)

During the year ended 31 May 2020, no Hong Kong profits tax has
been provided for as the Group did not generate any estimated
assessable profit.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 May 2019.

The companies of the Group established in the PRC are subject to
the PRC corporate income tax at the rate of 25% for the years
ended 31 May 2020 and 2019. Companies incorporated and
operating in Macau are subject to Macau complementary tax, under
which taxable income of up to MOP600,000 is exempted from
taxation with amounts beyond this amount to be taxed at a fixed
rate of 12% for the years ended 31 May 2020 and 2019.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
applicable rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.

The amounts of taxation (credited)/charged to profit or loss
represent:

re MR HRR N

11

(%)

FrestiiEs  (Bx%)

R=Z=ZFF H=+—HIEFE "
EERANE SN e R R R IR o )
wm A I BT IR B S F S B o

BENGHERBE_T—-NALFAA
=+ —BIEFEOMGRERTOREM A
M E16.5% T HE 1 °

HE_ZT_ZTERK_ZT—NALEHRHA
=+ —HLEFE AEEEFRBEZL
2R BIR25% 2 TR BN R B G
XMEH ERMEMAZREED
NElEBMBPI B Eit
REBEE-ZE-_ZTFR=-_FT—NLFRHA
=+—HIEFE  &%BF 600,000
TR ERF W AER R B
R SRR IREE R 12%HF -

HAth 77 RS A R IB I AR
BEEMERZERRITOHERN
-oRBERBER 2EREMG

=
(GtAER) BREEMNEBENHESE
5

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

2020 2019
ZEZEF —T-NEF
HK$ HK$
& T BT

Current income tax: BNERFT /5 %t
— Hong Kong profits tax —BBHNER — 4,345,590
— Macau income tax —RFIEH — 116,093
— PRC corporate income tax — R EMEHR — 107,255
— 4,568,938
Over-provision in prior years BT FEBBEEE (107,255) —
Deferred income tax (Note 24) FEIEFTS T (B 5E24) (2,221,217) (555,106)
(2,328,472) 4,013,832
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W N

B 75 R R B = (A8)

11 Income tax credit/(expense) (Continued)

The taxation on the (loss)/profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of Hong
Kong as follows:

(Continued)

11 FEHER (X @

Fr8#ia(E18) mAMNHEAR R
FREEMRFTEMSEwmeE
TR

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=+t-BHLEFE

2020 2019

—E-EHF —E-NF

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

(Loss)/profit before income tax Fr 8 &l (E518),/ 5% 7 (26,633,658) 26,549,396
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% B EI165% & (4,394,554) 4,380,651

Effect of different tax rates for different TRBERNTRBEEREE

countries 388,615 592,302
Income not subject to taxation BAZBKA (28,264) (165,944)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes DGR3 1,570,082 59,217
Tax losses not recognised RIERMIEE B 400,451 =
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses & F8 5& Bil ok B 32 %4 18 & 18 (157,547) (687,394)
Over-provision in prior years BIEEEBRERE (107,255) E
Tax concession (Note) R 18 (B 5 — (165,000)
Taxation (credit)/charge HEOER), XH (2,328,472) 4,013,832

Pursuant to the enactment of two-tiered profit tax rates by the Inland Revenue
Department (“IRD”) from the year of assessment 2018/19 onwards, the
Group's first HK$2 million of assessable profits under Hong Kong profits tax
during the year ended 31 May 2019 is subject to a tax rate of 8.25%. The
Group’s remaining assessable profits above HK$2 million will continue to be

Note:

subject to a tax rate of 16.5%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Loss)/earnings per share

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss)/
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
years ended 31 May 2020 and 2019.

re MR HRR N

12

(%)

SR (B8 BF

REE_ZF_FTER_F-NAFHA
=S+-BLEFE SRERER)
BRNTGEARNRBRERSE ARG (S
18),8 M IA B B 17 @R 15
Bt E -

Year ended 31 May
BELA=+-BLEE

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-AF
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of KABHEE AER (EBE),/
the Company (in HK$) i A (BB T ET) (24,257,194) 22,484,660
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B %77 3 3 I% 0 #E S 25 #4
in issue 800,000,000 800,000,000
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (HK cents) BRERN(ER) BF B (3.03) 2.81

As there were no diluted potential ordinary shares outstanding
during the years ended 31 May 2020 and 2019, diluted (loss)/
earnings per share is the same as basic (loss)/earnings per share.

Non-controlling interests

The total comprehensive loss or income for the years ended 31 May
2020 and 2019 attributable to non-controlling interests amounted
to HK$51,601 and HK$48,360, respectively, which are attributable
to two individual shareholders of Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng
Technology Limited (“SSTTL"”). SSTTL mainly incurred operating
expenses of approximately HK$1,451,240 and HK$2,158,355 for
the years ended 31 May 2020 and 2019, respectively, and it did not
contribute significant revenue, total assets and total liabilities to the
Group.

13

HREBEE-ZT-_TFR=_T—NFH
A=+— Etiflﬁ%ﬁhﬁﬁﬁ
WEBEBELER NEBEEER
(BR)/BANEgREN(EE) &
FIAER o

FERES

FERERENEE TS _TFR
E-hFRA=Z=+—"HLEFENZ
HEBI RS %E/‘EIJ%51601%7_E
48360 T EFEB R AIITH A
AEREER AR (R ﬂllﬁ%ﬂ%@ﬂ
FENDAMEBEBEARRE -REBEE=ZF=
EER_T—NAFEFRA=ZF+—HILF
B RIELEREEREFEFEELEEE
B 9 Bl 491,451,240 7T % 2,158,355
B BWEHAEE = BEE
MEBEELRERER -
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14 Property, plant and equipment

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

idated Financial Statements (Continued)

14 ¥ BERFZE

Furniture and

Visual display other Motor Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles  improvements Total
KER
REBETRE Hih% e RE HEHB @st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
At cost: B :
At 1 June 2018 R=ZF—-N\F-HA—H8 150,837,755 1,322,983 1,927,462 1,506,432 155,594,632
Additions NE 12,842,379 77,031 292,000 34,986 13,246,396
Exchange difference EHER (148,518) (1,746) — (2,750) (153,014)
At 31 May 2019 RZZ—NF
FA=1+—H 163,531,616 1,398,268 2,219,462 1,538,668 168,688,014
At 1June 2019, as previously MR-ZT—HF A—H "
presented LR 25 163,531,616 1,398,268 2,219,462 1,538,668 168,688,014
Adoption of HKFRS 16 KB BIBREER
(Note 2.2) F165% (FH7E2.2) = (65,280) — — (65,280)
At 1 June 2019, as restated E’s\:g—hi
ANA—H - KE5 163,531,616 1,332,988 2,219,462 1,538,668 168,622,734
Additions NE 28,062,577 62,079 — — 28,124,656
Exchange difference BN ZER (158,483) (1,397) — (2,200) (162,080)
At 31 May 2020 RZE_ZHF
FA=+—8 191,435,710 1,393,670 2,219,462 1,536,468 196,585,310
Accumulated depreciation:  EFHfTE :
At 1 June 2018 RZE—N\F~A—H 70,556,955 1,039,194 1,048,020 1,132,354 73,776,523
Charge for the year FRZ 17,438,869 124,924 288,039 113,279 17,965,111
Exchange difference fEH =5 (43,350) (701) — (2,215) (46,266)
At 31 May 2019 RZZE-N&F
EA=1+—H 87,952,474 1,163,417 1,336,059 1,243,418 91,695,368
At 1 June 2019, as previously ZE-NERA
presented —B mEH27 87,952,474 1,163,417 1,336,059 1,243,418 91,695,368
Adoption of HKFRS 16 BRANE 7S B 5 R 5 A A
(Note 2.2) 165 (fH:E2.2) = (29,920) — — (29,920)
At 1 June 2019, as restated RZE—NEF
~A— R 87,952,474 1,133,497 1,336,059 1,243,418 91,665,448
Charge for the year FRZTH 19,559,736 89,188 252,843 100,980 20,002,747
Exchange difference &5 =% (51,879) 911) — (2,200) (54,990)
At 31 May 2020 RZB-TF
FA=+—H 107,460,331 1,221,774 1,588,902 1,342,198 111,613,205
Net book value: iR E
At 31 May 2020 R-ZB_TF
=-r—g 83,975,379 171,896 630,560 194,270 84,972,105
At 31 May 2019 RZE-NF
FA=+—8H 75,579,142 234,851 883,403 295,250 76,992,646




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire M maR M ()

14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 14 Y% BERZE@
As at 31 May 2019, the carrying amount of office equipment held R-ZE—NFRA=1+—H8 BEHA
under hire purchase contract was HK$35,360. Upon the adoption B A ,i’j BEENRAZENEREA
of HKFRS 16, the leased assets are presented as right-of-use assets 35,3608 70 c MEE AN BB B 15 5 &5 &
(Note 2.2). BlZE1652 - MEEETEN AFER

wEEME22) -

Year ended 31 May
BELA=+-BLEE

2020 2019

et et —T-NF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Cost of services AR 75 A AR 19,559,736 17,438,869

Administrative expenses THRAX 443,011 526,242

Depreciation charge for the year FAWEEHR 20,002,747 17,965,111

15 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 15 FHEEERBEEEE
(@) The Group’s leasing activities and how these (@) XEB2HEZFTEBEREA
are accounted for BREEEWNAE

The Group leases various offices, warehouses and office AREFHRESBERAZT EER

equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed WABE - -FHEAENE Eﬁﬁ R—
periods of 1 to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an MREBIFEIF - HEGRIZE

individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms BEEBEH BERZBTERK

and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any R AE M o THE 13 e I ]

covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for D BHEHEEETNEREMRZ

borrowing purposes. A o
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15 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (Continued) 15 FAEEEREEEE @

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated b) RGEEHBRARAER
statement of financial position & 5
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the EAMBMRRAKRI REBHEE 2
following amounts relating to leases: SEWR

31 May 2020 1 June 2019

—2-%F —FTNF
EFRA=1t—H 750 g
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Right-of-use assets (Note) ERAEEE (M)
Premises L/ 3,434,898 4,456,435
Office equipment WNRE 19,040 35,360
3,453,938 4,491,795

Lease liabilities HEAE

Non-current ELNE) 1,332,232 1,685,930
Current mE 2,276,959 2,811,849
3,609,191 4,497,779
Note: During the year ended 31 May 2020, the Group entered into new leases Wit : BE-—E-"THEFA=+—BItHE
on premises and recognised right-of-use assets of approximately = z'g;@ eI HFHAEY
LiSeaE s R AE A E 42,019,808 T -
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15 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (continued) 15 FAEEERBEEEE @)

() Amounts recognised in the consolidated () REE-HEHWERAER
statement of comprehensive income £ %8
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows SEEEKERIISEBREE 2
the following amounts relating to leases: SEEMAT
2020
—EZEHF
HK$
BT
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTREESERE
Premises L/ 2,965,890
Office equipment WARE 16,320
2,982,210
Interest on leases liabilities (Note 10) HEaBEZzFE (KE10) 198,038

Rental expenses of short-term leases in respect of BRIFHAWE MR E 2 GHHEE

rental premises and equipment e > 2,159,715
(d) Amounts recognised in the consolidated d REERLEHRERANER
statement of cash flows HexE
During the year ended 31 May 2020, the total cash outflows Rz -—=EFA=+—H
for leases were analysed as follows: \HEE j‘ﬁ EvESREBEES
T
2020
—ECRF
HK$
T

Cash flows from operating activities (Note) KRETEHFMEBESTKE ()

Payments for short-term leases in respect of ERAHREMERZFEZCHEE
rental premises and equipment (NE:N 2,159,715
Cash flows from financing activities METHAESRERE
Payments of interest element of lease liabilities BEEHEAGERNEI Y 198,038
Payments of principal element of lease liabilites EEBEAGERE L H 2,832,941

3,030,979
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ire W R M AT ()

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (Continued)

(d) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

(Continued)

15 FRAEEEREESE®W
d REEREERERAER

statement of cash flows (Continued) B £ &8 (1|)
Note: Payments for short-term leases were not shown separately, but included Mz SHAEMNRWESE B R - I
in the line of "operating (loss)/profit” in respect of the net cash B B EREEEL TG
generated from operating activities using the indirect method. B FHEMI KL (E8), &4 E
BRe
Trade and other receivables, prepayments 16 ESREMEKRRE BN
and deposits NERESE
As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019
R=-Z2=-%F RZ-ZF-NHF
EA=+—-H HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT T
Trade receivables B 5 WA 15,471,911 25,054,729
Less: Provision for impairment of trade BB HE qu % I8 R B
receivables (2,821,350) —
Trade receivables, net (Note a) 2 2 e e % EE (ffiEa) 12,650,561 25,054,729
Prepayments for purchase of equipment Eﬁ EREENMNZE 10,159,809 13,109,216
Deposits for equipment rental RBLHEZS 8,631,337 11,357,813
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits  E {tf & Jg 7018 - 78 {318 K&
7 2,652,638 2,082,313
34,094,345 51,604,071
Less: Non-current portion W IEM BB
Prepayments for purchase of equipment BEREBEMNR (10,159,809) (13,109,216)
Prepayments and rental deposits ENREEEE Ez% (236,851) (373,203)
(10,396,660) (13,482,419)
Current portion Ve R= A 23,697,685 38,121,652

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the year end date is the
carrying amount of each class of receivables and deposits
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate
their fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16 Trade and other receivables, prepayments
and deposits (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables,

%= A

NN

A MR R M 5

(%)

16 ESREMBERRE AN

RERZEE @

AEBEE S R EHMREKKIE BN

prepayments and deposits were denominated in the following BRIESHERMBEN TS EEEE
currencies:
As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019
R-ZZZZEF RZITE-HNF
EFA=+—-H HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT T
HK$ BT 13,300,457 26,780,648
us$ =E 16,726,733 21,824,629
RMB AR K 4,053,418 2,985,258
MOP SR P 13,737 13,536
34,094,345 51,604,071
(@) Trade receivables () EZEWFE
The Group's trade receivables are settled by cash on delivery AREBNESEKAXBELEE

or credit period of around 30 to 90 days after provision of
services. As at 31 May 2020 and 2019, the Group’s ageing
analysis of the gross trade receivables based on invoice date is

o 32 AR 75 18 4930 E 90K K =
BHANBESEE R _E-F
ER-_T-—NERR=+—8"

as follows: AEEERBEHHNRE SR
WHRIEREBRDITAT

As at As at

31 May 2020 31 May 2019

R-ZB-BF R_ZT—L&F

AA=+—-H HA=+—H

HK$ HK$

BT BT

0-30 days 0FE 30K 48,440 11,633,568

31-60 days 31E£60K 21,565 2,277,870

61-90 days 61E90K 122,405 2,707,000

Over 90 days HBiE90K 15,279,501 8,436,291

15,471,911 25,054,729
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(Continued)

16 Trade and other receivables, prepayments 16 ESFRHMEKFKRE FAFN
and deposits (Continued) /=] 1—223 (1)
(a) Trade receivables (Continued) (a) B S EWEIE @)
As at 31 May 2020 and 2019, trade receivables of R-E_ZEFKE-_FT—ILFRHA
HK$15,279,501 and HK$8,436,291 were past due =i Ey ﬁ%M%BZESM
respectively. As at 31 May 2020, trade receivables of T % 8,436,291/ L H & 5 FE UK
HK$2,821,350 are impaired and have been provided for. See FECEH N_E_FEERHA
Note 3.1(c) for information of trade receivables and the =+—H8" 28213508 T E H
Group's exposure to credit risk. FEWS B BEYEHIERE - A
HESERRERAEEBEFEER
B E R B EE3.1(0) ©
Movement on the provision for impairment of trade B EEWRIBRERENZE ST
receivables is as follows: T
As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019
R-ZZBZEHF RIE—NHF
EA=+—-B HAEA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT T
At beginning of the year ) — =
Provision for impairment for the year (Note 8) 4 /9 )&l (& % 48 (M 31 8) 2,821,350 =
At end of the year FR 2,821,350 —
(b) Other receivables, prepayments and deposits (b) EEKRFTE - BN
k&
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits mainly represent HipElh B BANFBELIES

rental and utility deposits and prepayments for professional
service fees.

During the years ended 31 May 2020 and 2019, the Group
settled balances amounting to HK$4,858,952 and
HK$2,464,710, respectively, for acquisition of certain visual
display equipment with deposits for equipment rental of the
same amount.

During the year ended 31 May 2019, certain deposits for
equipment rental under current assets amounting to
HK$5,029,283 were reclassified as prepayments for purchase
of equipment under non-current assets, as these deposits will
be used to settle part of the considerations for acquisition of
certain visual display equipment pursuant to the related
purchase agreements entered into by the Company in March
2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire M maR M ()

17 Cash and bank balances 17 RERBITES
(a) Pledged bank deposits (a) BEARITER
As at 31 May 2020 and 2019, bank deposits of HK$3,000,001 RZZE_ZTFR_ZFT—NLFH
and HK$3,016,286 were pledged to a financial institution A =+ — B 3,000,001 7t &
based in Hong Kong, respectively, to secure the banking 3,016,28678 ST I R 1T TF X 2 Bl 3K
facilities (Note 25). The weighted average effective interest WY —HEUREEN S RS-
rate of the Group's pledged bank deposits was 0.001% (2019: AEER TR E (M FE25) « AN &
2.35%). BEEBRITEROMEFSE
B A & £0.001% (=T — L& :
2.35%) °
The Group's pledged bank deposits were denominated in AREBMHD KR ITERE S
HKS. JLETHE °
(b) Cash and cash equivalents (b) BERBELSEEY
As at As at

31 May 2020 31 May 2019
ﬁﬁ_+ =R 5 E = —E

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Cash on hand SEEERIE S 78 80

Cash at banks RITIR S 4,547,553 12,838,730
Term deposits with initial terms of less than REHELR=FEANTE

three months HATF 2Kk — 16,000,000

4,547,631 28,838,810

Maximum exposure to credit risk A= EE P 4,547,553 28,838,730
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17 Cash and bank balances (continued) 17 RERBITHEER @
(b) Cash and cash equivalents (Continued) b) REeRBEELEEY @
Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following HeNBESEBYWNHIRIATEE
currencies: s
As at As at

31 May 2020 31 May 2019
RZB-FE RZZE—NF
FA=+—H HA=+—H

HKS$ HK$
BT BT
HK$ BT 4,052,360 24,436,535
RMB AR 461,584 4,330,962
Euro BT 29,706 30,098
MOP BRFI 3,220 3,220
Others Hi 761 37,995
4,547,631 28,838,810
Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily RITHRESEBETRFEITERF
bank deposit rates. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents RIRTZEF KBTS o KNE
denominated in RMB were deposited with banks in Hong BUAREAFENRESRIRES
Kong and the PRC. The conversion of the RMB-denominated BYWIHHEHRREE LB RIE T
balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of funds A o A RSB B 45 65 3 3R 4 i
out of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of LA T Hh B 38 HNPE 3R B SF AR EE A
foreign exchange control promulgated by the Government of EHMBE BN L & HINES S 2
the People’s Republic of China. SERERIERR o
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18 RA K KA E

18 Share capital and share premium

Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
ZEREE HEREE
HK$
BT
Authorised: JETE ¢
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 eachasat31 May R—_Z—AFHA=+—H »
2019, 1 June 2019 and 31 May 2020 “E-NFARAA—BE=Z
—ZEFRA=+—HERE
B0.01 87T 2 &Mk 3,000,000,000 30,000,000
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary Share
shares shares premium
ZEREE ZEREE R 17 % B
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Issued and fully paid: ERETRAE:
At 31 May 2019 and 31 May 2020 RZ-—Z—AFHA
=+—HAR=ZZE=F
FRAA=+—H 800,000,000 8,000,000 56,496,624

Note: The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) which became

B &

effective on 19 May 2017. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the

Group's directors and employees, etc. During the year ended 31 May 2020, no

options were granted (2019: same).

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z=Z& &3 149

ARBEE —RBIRETE ((ZAED -
RZF—tHFAA+NABRBERK  &&T
HENaER2EERRASBEEERE
RO speaimt S Ras i B = 9 = [B)1l
FE ARRLTERBEFEREZS
— N4 A8R) -



150

4R A

N

B 75 R 3% BT+ (A8)

19 Reserves

(a)

The Company was incorporated on 4 November 2016 and
the group reorganisation in connection with the Listing was
completed on 24 November 2016. The capital reserve as at
31 May 2020 and 2019 primarily represented the aggregate
amount of share capital of the companies now comprising
the Group after elimination of the inter-company investment
costs.

The Macau Commercial Code number 377 requires that
companies incorporated in Macau should set aside a
minimum of 25% of their respective profit after income tax to
the legal reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches a
level equivalent to 50% of their capital.

The PRC laws and regulations require companies registered in
the PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves, which are to
be appropriated from the profit after income tax (after
offsetting accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in
their respective statutory financial statements, before profit
distributions to equity holders. All statutory reserves are
created for specific purposes. A PRC company is required to
appropriate an amount of not less than 10% of statutory
profits after income tax to statutory surplus reserves, prior to
distribution of its post-tax profits of the current year. A
company may discontinue the contribution when the
aggregate sum of the statutory surplus reserve is more than
50% of its registered capital. The statutory surplus reserves
shall only be used to make up losses of the company, to
expand the company’s operations, or to increase the capital
of the company. In addition, a company may make further
contribution to the discretional surplus reserve using its post-
tax profits in accordance with resolutions of the board of
directors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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20 Obligations under finance leases 20 MEMEERRE
The future minimum lease payments, after taking into account the RERIZBEREZBBKER  ARKEKHE
repayable on demand clause, are as follows: ENRAT
As at
31 May 2019
RZZE—-NF
EA=+—H
HK$
BT
Finance lease liabilities MEHEEE
No later than one year NER—F 41,344
Present value of finance lease liabilities MmEAEAENIRE 41,344
As at
31 May 2019
T
£ H ===
HK$
BT
The present value of finance lease liabilities are as REHEAGENIRENT

follows:

No later than one year NER —F 41,344
As at 31 May 2019, the Group leased an office equipment under R-_ZE—Nh&ERA=+—H &~&EH
finance leases expiring within five years. The lease was on a fixed i) Tgﬁf\ﬁi NEMmz Bt EA SS9
repayment basis with no contingent rental payments. N A TIRE E IS R EEE Y

BB ARBENK -
Obligations under finance leases were denominated in HK$. BB EARES S TTEHE -
On 1 June 2019, obligations under finance leases were reclassified R-FT—hENA—HB RENEHE
to lease liabilities in the process of adopting the new leasing EXANERET BHEBEEAEEE
standard. See Note 2.2 and Note 2.14 for further information about HoEANEaAGE - EEHAESHHK
the change in the accounting policy for leases. KM E— S ERBEL2EWEF22R
BtiE2.14 -
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21 Other payables and accrued liabilities 21 HtENREREFERE
As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019
R=ZB=ZZF R-_ZT—NF
HFA=+—H HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Payables for equipment % 8 FE AP B 4,628,524 4,774,655
Other accruals and payables H e 5B A N B R 5,404,813 4,561,816
10,033,337 9,336,471
As at 31 May 2020 and 2019, the Group’s ageing analysis of the RZZBEZEFRZZZFE—NFHA
payables for equipment based on invoice date is as follows: =+—H ASEBERBEHHMNK
ﬁﬁiﬁ%”& BERERE DT
As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019
R=ZBZZEF —T-NEF
BA=+—H fL H =+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
0-30 days 0ZE30K — 62,130
Over 90 days # 90K 4,628,524 4,712,525
4,628,524 4,774,655
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21 Other payables and accrued liabilities (continued) 21 Hft BN ZEREF A B
(%)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables and accrued NEBHEMENKBRESTBENE
liabilities were denominated in the following currencies: EENA TS EEH(E :

As at As at

31 May 2020 31 May 2019

R-ZBZEF RZIT-ILF

EA=+—-H HAA=+—H

HK$ HK$

BT & TT

RMB AR 5,152,873 5,642,866

HK$ BT 4,224,810 3,216,428

uss$ ETT 609,405 281,674

MOP SR P 46,249 195,503

10,033,337 9,336,471

The carrying amounts of all short-term payables and accrued

HRAAERMENFRERESRERN

liabilities approximated their fair value due to their short maturities. HAR B RS - INERmEEE A FEEHEE o
22 Bank borrowings 22 RITER
As at 31 May 2020 and 2019, bank borrowings were repayable as R_EBE-_FTERKR_FT—NLEHA
follows: =+—H AEENRITERET :
As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019
R-ZZZZEF RZITE-HLF
EFA=+—8B HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT B TT
Bank loans, secured: R1T CHER
Balances repayable within one year classified as ,,\ﬁ/\ ¢ NEE - DERRD
current liabilities BENGS 2,457,914 3,147,868
Balances repayable after one year, with clause ZE# — ¢f§ 1;1_ BEREXK
of repayable on demand classified as current  EEERE D EARDEE
liabilities B 45 1,134,574 3,593,738
3,592,488 6,741,606
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ire W R M AT ()

22 Bank borrowings (Continued) 22 RATER @
The above bank loans bear interests ranging from 5.5% to 5.9% N ERTEZRREE_ZE_ZEFAHHA
per annum for the year ended 31 May 2020 (2019: same). =+ HIEFEZFRNERNFS55%F

5.9% (ZF— N4 : HRA)

As at 31 May 2020 and 2019, the fair value of current bank R—E_ZEER_ZE—HhEFERA
borrowings approximated their carrying amount, as the impact of =+ — El AR EL IR %;%Tj( = HA
discounting is not significant. RITERN AT EELEREEES
As at 31 May 2020 and 2019, the Group’s bank borrowings based RZEZ_ZEFR_FE—NAFHA
on the scheduled repayment dates as set out in the loan = - AEK $E HRTEFERUAT
agreements and ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand HRES(BEEZXREFAETE S
clause were repayable as follows: ,j;)\ BE ZEEEMAZEERETIERD
e :
As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019
R=ZB=ZF RZE-NEF
FA=+—-H HAZ=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within 1 year 1F R 2,457,914 3,147,868
Between 1 and 2 years 122%F 1,134,574 2,458,088
Between 2 and 5 years 2&E54F — 1,135,650
3,592,488 6,741,606
The bank borrowings were denominated in HK$. PRITEFH LB TEE -
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23 Balances with related parties 23 BEEBANER
Maximum Maximum
amount amount
outstanding outstanding
during the during the
year ended year ended As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019 31 May 2020 31 May 2019

BE-F-%F BE_FT 1%

HFA=+—HB1Lt BA=+—HIE
FENERSD FENER R-ZT-_ZTF RZZTE—NLEF
KEBEE KEESR® FEH=+—-HBH HA=1+—8

HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Amount due from the & U & 2 ¥4 A%
immediate holding YNSIE @
company — 300,940 — =
24 Deferred taxation 24 EERIE
The deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there w17 1L fk 0E 0] o8 Bl B 17 B KE I 45 B
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against BRFR 18 ﬁ EHAEHIE A &K
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to AREIELERSH S &R — B B
the same fiscal authority. The net amounts are as follows: B BREFMESEMEENAE TR
$H o FET :
As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019
RZB-BF R_ZT—LF
EFA=+—-H HAA=+—8H
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMGHAR
— to be settled after more than twelve months — 8@+ @ B84 E (3,514,821) (5,765,100)
— to be settled within twelve months —RT+-_EARLEEHE (1,852,683) (1,823,621)

(5.367,504) (7,588,721)
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24 Deferred taxation (Continued)

24 EIEF E (@)
EEFRERaBEFENEHNT

The movement on net deferred income tax liabilities is as follows:

Year ended 31 May
BELA=+—HLEE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —FT-NF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At beginning of the year F9 (7,588,721) (8,143,827)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 11) P B (FFaE11) 2,221,217 555,106
At end of the year FR (5,367,504) (7,588,721)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities prior to

Tfﬁﬁﬁﬂ—ﬁﬁ%ﬂiﬁglﬁﬁﬂ #& 8 AR T

156

offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction is as BHREERABNESH T :
follows:
Deferred income tax liabilities/(assets) EEFREHERE (BE)
Accelerated tax Provision of impairment Right-of-use assets and
depreciation of trade receivables Tax losses lease liabilities Total
MERERE B RUHRRERE BHEBSE ERAREEREESE @t
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
SBCBF ZTNF OSESRF CTONF OSESRF CTONF OSESRF CFONF OCBSRF TR
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 June Ri<A—A 7,588,721 8,143,827 - = - = - = 7,588,721 8,143,827
Charged/ BEENB/
(credited) to - (5t AIE %)
profit or loss 669,771 (555,106) (375,796) —  (249217) = (23,021) —  (221217) (555,106)
At 31 May REA=+—A 8,258,492 7,588,721 (375,796) —  (249217) = (23,021) 4 5,367,504 7,588,721
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Deferred taxation (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried-
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit
through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 May 2020,
the Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
approximately HK$1,048,097 (2019: HK$805,193) in respect of
accumulated tax losses of the PRC and Macau subsidiaries
amounting to approximately HK$4,602,673 (2019: PRC subsidiaries
amounting to approximately HK$3,220,772) that can be carried
forward against future taxable income. The tax losses of these PRC
subsidiaries will expire within 5 years, while the tax losses of the
Macau subsidiary do not have an expiry date.

Banking facilities

As at 31 May 2020 and 2019, the Group had total banking facilities
of HK$4,392,488 and HK$7,541,606, respectively, of which
HK$3,592,488 and HK$6,741,606 were utilised. The Group's
banking facilities were secured by the following:

(i)  Pledged bank deposits of HK$3,000,001 and HK$3,016,286
as at 31 May 2020 and 2019, respectively;

(i)  The issue of a guarantee relating to the working capital loans
by the government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region to the extent of HK$2,500,000 as at 31 May 2020
and 2019; and

(i)  Corporate guarantee by the Company.

e
IZ\‘/—J—\/\

24

25

B 15 HR R M A ()

iE 7E B 15 ;)

A AR TS 518 i e R B IR E AT 5 77
BE EERBBEBRRERTFIEE
HEAMRBANEFTEAENBLT
ﬁEn/u \—7—7@535);] + Ei
AEEBWTAELPERBRHWB AR Z
2t IS E 18 44,602,673 T(—Z
—NF R BB A A 43,220,772 7
TL)ERAUEEERRERTUA 2
IR FE T TA & E #491,048,097 B (= &
— JL £ :805,193/8 7T ) ° % & & B K
BRRZMBEBIEBNRSTEARNRER M
SRPK B A R 2 B IE B EEm B
Hy o

RITRE
E/\ f_fi)&_%—ﬂiﬂﬂ

’é4,392,488;‘% JT &7,541 606 /%%5 JT

H 3,592,4885%7%&6,741,606;‘%ﬁEZE
A AEERITHEMRNTSEE
R

() MRZE_TFR_FT—NAFHA
=+—H BEEBERITFERS A
/53,000,001 7T 123,016,286/ TT :

iy BBHNTHERFLEEES
ERBEENER R_ZE_FF
k—FE—hFRA=+—BLR
/2,500,000 7T : &

(i) ARBZRBER-
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26 Subsidiaries 26 MIEB QT
Particulars of the subsidiaries held by the Group as at 31 May 2020 NREBR -_E_FTEFR-_FE—HILER
and 2019 are as follows: A=+ —HEENWBRARAMFERBN
I

Particulars of
Place and date of  issued and paid up Percentage of equity held

Name incorporation capital as at 31 May Principal activities
o MR L 3t B BRTR RER=+—H
=8 =R:t BRRAFE ST -0l TEEY
2020 2019

“2-2F ZB-hE

Directly held
EERA
In Technical Productions ~ The BV, Us$100 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
(B.V.I.) Limited 9 November 2016
("ITP (BVI)")
In Technical Productions ~HEBRXE#HE 100 T REBREER
(B.V.1) Limited ZE—RF
(TP (BVI)) +—RANA
Indirectly held
BERE
TP (HK) Hong Kong, HK$10,000 100% 100% Provision of video display solution
10 March 2009 services for concerts and events
in Hong Kong, Macau, the PRC
and Taiwan
ITP (HK) ER S 10,0007 7T AEE R FEEAER
=A+H EREREDRUEGEKET
R A =R
Shiji Tiansheng Cultural ~ The PRC, 4 July 2012 RMB3,500,000 100% 100% Provision of video display solution
Communication services for concerts and events
(Shenzhen) Limited* in the PRC
(AR LB
(RINVER AR
42 KBS b B 1 R —E—-—%F AR3,500,0007C APEREEE KB RMER
CRINBR 2 A +AmA LN S YEY
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26 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of

ire Mg maR M EE (8

26 [t 2 7 @)

Place and date of  issued and paid up Percentage of equity held
Name incorporation capital as at 31 May Principal activities
oF 1 AR 37 3t B R BRTR REA=+—H
% B BRBRAFE FiEREa A TEED
2020 2019
ZEZEF ZB-Nf¥
Shanghai Yingtegao Stage The PRC, RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Provision of stage design and

Arts Limited* (E/85% 14 October 2014 equipment installation services
E%ngﬁ R in the PRC
FERESEEEN R -T-mWE  AR¥1,000,0007T EHRERMES RFRRER
BRAT +A+IEA KRS

Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng  The PRC, RMB500,000 70% 70% Import and export and wholesale
Technology Limited* 11 July 2013 of video equipment and parts
(R DR R, and related support services in
BRAT) the PRC

RN A0 R B FE T —=F AR #500,0007T ERBE®EDREORBERE
BRAA +A+—H A BB A R AR S R

%

InTechPro Macau Limited ~ Macau, MOP500,000 100% 100% Provision of video display solution
(REFRR—ABR 27 November services for concerts and events
YNE]) 2017 in Macau

RERRM—A B 22—+ & Y8 P9%500,000 7T ARFEEEE RFBRER
B AR +—A=-++tH BRNERTRRE

% The company is established as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC. * ZARBRPBRRIMIIEBERE -

# The company is established as a limited liability company in the PRC. # ZARARTEKIHEREERT -

Note: The English names of certain subsidiaries referred to above represent the best
effort by management of the Company in translating their Chinese names as
they do not have official English names.
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27 Note to the consolidated statement of cash 27 ZERERERRHHE
flows
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from cash flows from financing BREEHERESnREELA ZBEY
activities: BRINR ¢
Obligations
Lease under finance Bank
liabilities leases borrowings
HEAE BEHERE RITER
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 June 2018 R=ZZF—NFXA—H — 109,048 10,997,772
Cash flow Ren=
— Repayment of bank borrowings —BEIBITER — — (4,256,166)
— Repayment of capital element of —{EEmMEME
the finance leases BERE D — (67,704) =
At 31 May 2019, as previously R=Z—hFHA
reported =t+t—H, W% 2 — 41,344 6,741,606
Recognised on adoption of HKFRS 16 £R 43 & 78 Bf 1§ R &
(Note 2.2) 7 B 38 16 55% I T 3R
(Mt3E2.2) 4,497,779 (41,344) —

At 1 June 2019, upon adoptionof R=-ZFE—hESF—H "

HKFRS 16 REMNE BT BRE
ZAE165E% 4,497,779 — 6,741,606
Cash flow BERE
— Payments of principal elementof —{EEHEAE
lease liabilities PN (2,832,941) — =
— Payments of interest elementof ~ —{EEHEAE
lease liabilities | B, 26 (198,038) — —
— Repayment of bank borrowings —EERITEX — — (3,149,118)
Non-cash movements JEIR & & &)
— Acquisition of leases —hEHE 2,019,808 = —
— Interest on lease liabilities —HEaEMNE 198,038 — —
— Exchange difference —EREH (75,455) = —
At 31 May 2020 N-B-FTF
FHA=+—8H 3,609,191 — 3,592,488
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28 Commitments 28 EIE
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEAXREE
Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred as at N E—_ZFEL-_FT—HhERA
31 May 2020 and 2019 were as follows: =+t —HEFWNERREENE
AR
As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019
ﬁﬁ_+ =R G5 F = —[E
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE KRG 2,109,896 1,367,497
(b) Operating lease commitments — Group as (b) BREHERE—ZXEEBA
lessee AHEA

As at 31 May 2019, the Group had total future aggregate R-FE—hERA=+—H8' &

minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating =Ea é.\ HESHEBPANE - AFE -
leases in respect of offices, warehouses, car parks and staff EEHERETESA gg & 7 8]
quarters as follows: HECEHEBETRRKEBER

/T>)\ Ve gﬁ ZZD —|— .

As at
31 May 2019
RZZE—NF
AL = =
HK$
BT
No later than one year TR —F 2,439,368
Later than one year and no later than five years #23i@ — {8 T~ #R38 1 & 667,739
3,107,107
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28 RIE (@)

28 Commitments (Continued)

(b) Operating lease commitments — Group as

lessee (Continued)

As at 31 May 2019, the Group had total future aggregate
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of visual display equipment as follows:

(b) REHERE—FEESR
AME A @

RZE-AFRA=+—8 &
SESHAAEFEBEBTIRESR
BRI MEEEHER T AR
REHENRBELT :

As at

31 May 2019

RZE—NF

SR =ar— E

HK$

BT

No later than one year THE—F 1,000,253

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group has recognised
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these leases, except
for those with remaining lease terms of less than 12 months
as at 1 June 2019 which were classified as short-term leases
and recognised on a straight-line basis as expenses pursuant
to a practical expedient permitted by HKFRS 16 (Note 2.2).

REAE LR BREEANF 165
B AEECHERMLFHEZE
RAREELRHERARB HER_-F
—NEXA-BRBEHIR12
BANHEERN  REFEHB
i&iﬁﬁﬂ%”m%‘bﬁﬁuéﬁ’]—ﬁﬂé
BhE E0BEREHEERNK
Eﬁ/ﬂﬁmﬁﬁﬂi(r‘m{zn

29 Related party transactions 29 ARG
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, NM— e EE SRR ETSE—F

directly or indirectly, to control the other party, has joint control
over the party or exercises significant influence over the other party

in making financial and operation decisions.

Parties are also

considered to be related if they are subject to common control.

The ultimate controlling individual of the companies now
comprising the Group is Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis for the years
ended 31 May 2020 and 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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29 Related party transactions (Continued) 29 BEAI RS @)
Key management compensation FTEEEAESHMH
Key management includes directors and other key management of TEEBEABRREAERNESRE
the Group. The compensation paid or payable to key management HmEEERBAE - -FEEREME
for employee services is shown below: LENEZERBABEFMITAT

Year ended 31 May
BELAA=+—BLFEE

2020 2019

— ? — qi i T— j-l.r ZE'E

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Salaries, other allowances and benefits e HAaERL KAEF 4,625,374 4,742,046
Pension costs — contributions to defined BRRKEBA— AR EHRE

contribution plans T3 183,143 206,410

4,808,517 4,948,456

30 Financial instruments by categories 30 BRERESHNERMI A

Financial assets
at amortised cost

REBEREAZEMEE

2020 2019
et g 5 —T-NF
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Assets as per consolidated statement of HEMBRRRAIEE

financial position

Trade receivables B 5 rElkxiE 12,650,561 25,054,729
Deposits and other receivables Ty%&ﬁﬁﬂﬁ‘?ﬂ&m 10,752,063 12,654,240
Cash and bank balances e RIBTES 7,547,632 31,855,096
Total st 30,950,256 69,564,065
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30 Financial instruments by categories (Continued) 30 RERIZI D WL F T & @)

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

R#HERELAZEREE
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Liabilities as per consolidated statement of &M B R R KA EE
financial position
Bank borrowings HRIT 18 X 3,592,488 6,741,606
Other payables and accrued liabilities Hith e E R EFGAE 9,527,305 8,487,957
Lease liabilities HEBE 3,609,191 —
Obligations under finance leases BEMEERIE — 41,344
Total @t 16,728,984 15,270,907
31 Contingencies 31 HRAEE
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 May 2020 R_E_ZTFER_ZFT—NLFHA
and 2019. =t—B AEEYEERLAEE-
32 Dividend 32 RE
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the AANREBE_ZE_ZEER_Z—NF
years ended 31 May 2020 and 2019. FA=+—BLEFETELNKEIR
IR 2 o

164 In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire M maR M ()

33 Statement of financial position of the 33 XA A BMBMRRK
Company

As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019
RZEBEZEF RZIZE—NF
FA=+—-H HA=+—H

Note HK$ HK$
Mo 5E BT BT
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENBARKE 44,709,149 44,709,149
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables B A FRIE R CH i FE WK1 153,980 236,148
Amount due from a subsidiary JE Y — 1 Ff /B8 & B kI8 22,511,336 29,813,419
Cash and cash equivalents BENRBRESZEEY 59,037 59,516
22,724,353 30,109,083
Total assets BEE 67,433,502 74,818,232
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33 Statement of financial position of the 33 XA B BMBMRRT @
Company (Continued)

As at As at
31 May 2020 31 May 2019
R=-Z2=-%F R-F-NF
EFA=+—-H HA=+—H

Note HK$ HK$
b BT BT
EQUITY ER
Share capital & 7 18 8,000,000 8,000,000
Share premium % 17 )% B 18 56,496,624 56,496,624
Reserves 15 ©) 381,038 9,961,608
Total equity HRE S 64,877,662 74,458,232
LIABILITIES afE
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accrued liabilities HEEMNRBERESERE 2,555,840 360,000
Total liabilities HwaE 2,555,840 360,000
Total equity and liabilities EzRkBEHEE 67,433,502 74,818,232
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved RNAGITBRARAEREST@RN _ZE—
by the Board of Director on 27 August 2020 and were signed on its SEENB-++HHH#E WRAEZE
behalf.
Yeung Ho Ting Dennis Tam Chun Yu
BEE BEETF
Director Director
BF EF
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33 Statement of financial position of the

Company (Continued)

= A
ira

VS SRR T oE ()

33 XA FBBEMRREX @

(a) Movement of reserves (a) fEESH

Capital Accumulated
reserve losses Total
ERf#EE E-4 0 F 5t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 1 June 2018 R=-ZT—NFEA—H 32,709,141 (20,113,614) 12,595,527
Loss for the year FEEER — (2,633,919) (2,633,919)
As at 31 May 2019 R-E—NERA=+—H 32,709,141 (22,747,533) 9,961,608
Loss for the year FEEE — (9,580,570) (9,580,570)
As at 31 May 2020 RZZEZFFHRA=1+—H 32,709,141 (32,328,103) 381,038
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34 Benefits and interests of directors 3 ESERNRER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE=HM
The emoluments of the directors of the Company paid or AREBRHEE T _ZTER_ZF
payable by the Group during the years ended 31 May 2020 —NEFHEA=1+—HItFEBH
and 2019 are set out below: NENHARNATZEEFHIS AW
™
Year ended 31 May 2020 BE-—_ZE_EFRA=t+—8H1t
FE
Salaries,
other
allowances Defined
and Discretionary contribution
Fee benefits bonuses pension costs Total
%ﬁﬁ N Eﬂﬂ 5?‘}]:-{/\ A
BE EEREA B BELER ot
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Name ®E BT BT BT BT BT

Executive directors: HITESE:

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting BIEE &

Dennis (Chief Executive (7T 48 %;)

Officer) — 1,197,407 300,000 18,000 1,515,407
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BEFLEE — 626,250 96,417 18,000 740,667

Independent non- BYFHTES:
executive directors:

Mr. Li Kai Sing FROERSE 174,000 — - — 174,000
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun SRRELE 174,000 — — — 174,000
Ms. Loh Lai Ping, Phills  Z# B ¥ &+ 174,000 — — — 174,000

522,000 1,823,657 396,417 36,000 2,778,074
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34 Benefits and interests of directors (Continued) 3 EETARER @

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) () EEHMN @
Year ended 31 May 2019 BE-_E2—hEFA=+—H81
FE
Salaries,
other
allowances Defined
and  Discretionary  contribution
Fee benefits bonuses  pension costs Total
e Hit REHK
we  EERET MIETEL =ZELEH FoE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Name "4 BT BT BT BT BT

Executive directors: HITES .

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting LA

Dennis (Chief Executive (77148 %)

Officer) — 1,154,916 300,000 18,000 1,472,916
Mr. Tam Chun Yu EEFRE — 573,683 143,527 18,000 735,210

Non-executive director: EHIT=E :
Mr. Law Wang Chak, BRERE
Waltery (Note) (P 5E) 165,000 — — — 165,000

Independent non- BYFHTES:

executive directors:

Mr. Li Kai Sing FRAESE 180,000 — — — 180,000
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun BRELE 180,000 = = = 180,000
Ms. Loh Lai Ping, Phillis ~ ZE B 22+ 180,000 = = — 180,000
705,000 1,728,599 443,527 36,000 2,913,126
Note: The director resigned on 1 May 2019. M ZE2ERN-_ZE—NLERA—B &
fAE =
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34 Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

()

(9)

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits during the year (2019: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year (2019: Nil).

Directors’ waived emoluments

None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year (2019: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Company did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services (2019:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour
of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors during the year (2019: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year (2019: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR ()

35 HEHRER

35 Events occurring after the reporting period

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the following subsequent events took place subsequent
to 31 May 2020:

Due to the outbreak of COVID-19 since early 2020, a series of
precautionary and control measures have been implemented in
cities where the Group operates. These have led to postponement
and cancellation of pop concerts and live events which seriously
affected the Group’s business up to the date of this report. As
stated in Note 2.1.1 “Going concern basis” above, the Group raised
new banking facility in June 2020 and is expecting another new
banking facility in September 2020 to alleviate the liquidity
pressure. The Group also applied for and received subsidies from
the HKSAR Government and Macau SAR Government. In addition,
the Group has taken plans and implemented measures to enhance
the Group’s cash flows by accelerating the collection of trade
receivables and reducing the operating costs.

With the recent signs that the COVID-19 situation has been easing
in the PRC and Macau and the related control measures imposed by
the governments have been gradually loosening, the directors of
the Company have been closely monitoring the development and
preparing to resume its visual display solution services in the PRC
and Macau as soon as permissible by the governments. On the
other hand, by the end of July 2020, a resurgence of COVID-19
infections were noted in Hong Kong. To control the local infections,
the HKSAR government has announced several stringent anti-
epidemic measures, such as mandatory mask-wearing, limiting
headcount in public gathering and restrictions and controls over
inbound and outbound travelling.

The directors of the Company have continuous discussion with its
customers about their plans to resume the pop concerts and live
events and expect that the Group’s business will resume gradually
from November 2020. However, if the present situation continues
and the control measures are prolonged, the Group’s business and
cash flows will be adversely affected.

BaEmAaMBmREME D AN E
EHN - R-_F_FFAA=+—HB®
BETUTER:

BCOVID-19R —E —_EFFHIE &I
R AEBEERMERTEERE — R
FIHIE e - 2SR BB RIT S %
SRRSEHWHEERIE HEAX
REBHEHASEEBEKNRER
2o N EXME2INFHEKLER
EFa o REBER T -_ZF XA
NER—S2RTHE THEHAR-F
—EFNABREE —SERTRE
NEBRRDESEN - AEBNAEF
ERRBRBRFERMEERMFEZ T
EEME - i REBBEFHERA
EERERERNGE LB EEE
Ik lk ] & S e U R TE K HI AR AR
Z’Xo

EREHPFRERTE KB
COVD-19% B EXEE BB ER
MEBEIEEBE B S WE  AQ A
EE - NERYERFALRRE WML
EHERBFFANBER TRRKRER
RAEBR KBNS REBERBRAR
- Z—FHE  BER_ZE_ZF
+ AKX R B IXIBECOVID-19% 15 < A&
THIAMRAE R BEEFRRFE
EmE TERERNZEERE 5058 5
MEOE BHARBE A T
AR IR 2 B B PR I R e

ARBREFRHEREETP WA R
ERTELENRBEHNE - A
HAEBEXBKHEE T _FF+—H
RELRE AT WEANBRTE
EpRERER  NEENEH LR

ERENEXIFTMNTE -
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172

MBERE

Result E
For the year ended 31 May
BETZA=+—HLEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ZE—RFE ZE—+F ZT-NEF ZTE—NGF ZZEZEZHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET FET
Revenue U 2§ 40,805 66,820 83,607 94,273 44,715
Cost of services AR 7 B AR (22,842) (32,908) (41,463) (48,135) (42,001)
Gross profit EF 17,963 33,912 42,144 46,138 2,714
Profit/(loss) for the year 4 J& % X,/ (E518) 6,928 (663) 17,928 22,536 (24,305)
Assets and Liabilities EEREE
As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
“EBE-RE —T—+tF —B-NF —E-NF =ZB-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Non-current assets FERBEE 40,562 64,941 82,002 90,475 98,823
Current assets B A E 15,857 37,843 67,598 69,977 31,245
Non-current liabilities ~ JE R & & & 3,801 29,010 8,339 7,589 6,699
Current liabilities mEAEE 28,195 49,161 34,115 23,200 18,068
Net current (liabilities) k& (& &) &EE
assets =] (12,338) (11,318) 33,483 46,777 13,177
Net assets BEFE 24,423 24,613 107,146 129,663 105,301

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

The financial information for the year ended 31 May 2016 were extracted
from the Prospectus of the Company dated 31 May 2017. Such summary
was prepared as if the current structure of the Group had been in
existence throughout these financial years and is presented on the basis
as set out in note 2 to the audited consolidated financial statements.
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